3701 Communications Way
Evansville, IN 47715
www.metronetinc.com

Ms. Ally Orwig

Project Coordinator

Indiana Rural Health Association
2901 Ohio Blvd., Suite 240
Terre Haute, IN 47803

Reference: The Indiana Telehealth Network RFP HCF-08 Due March 29, 2019 by 3PM ET.

2.1. COVER LETTER (2.1.1-2.1.5)

Dear Ms. Orwig,

Metro Fibernet, LLC is pleased to submit this response to the Request for Proposal for Internet Connectivity and Transport
services for the Indiana Telehealth Network (“RFP”). This letter shall act as Metronet’s acknowledgement, understanding
and agreement regarding the general information set forth in Section 1 of the RFP. Metro Fibernet, LLC and its affiliate
CMN-RUS, Inc. (collectively “Metronet”) have a state-of-the-art 100% fiber network, significant experience deploying
Internet and Transport services to USAC customers. Metronet is poised and positioned to provide the products and/or
services that meet the requirements in Sections 2.4 and 2.5 of the RFP as more specifically described below. Metronet is
willing to provide these products and/or services pursuant to the terms of the RFP in full compliance with FCC rules and
regulations for the Healthcare Connect Fund.

In formulating our response to the RFP, we considered the requirements and objectives of each Health Care Participant
(“HCP”). While there are numerous competing technologies that can deliver bandwidth, Metronet offers a future proof
100% fiber solution all the way to the customer premises. Metronet utilizes an all fiber network to deliver our services
which gives us the ability to seamlessly increase the bandwidth capacity of an end user with minimal provisioning. Most
importantly, Metronet can deliver these high quality reliable transport services often at price points at or below those
offered for inferior competing services.

Metronet’s advantage over other providers not only lies in its almost limitless bandwidth capabilities, but also in our
excellent reliability and unwavering commitment to customer service. Although Metronet’s corporate headquarters is
located in Evansville, Indiana, we have strived to establish a local presence in the communities we serve. Metronet
currently operates retail storefronts staffed with local technicians within its service territory in Indiana, Kentucky, lllinois
and Michigan. These locations allow us to address customer issues quickly and effectively with prompt responsive times.
We always strive to provide each customer with a superior level of account management and proactive personal service.

Our local presence and demonstrated track record of customer service has allowed Metronet to successfully earn the
business of many anchor institutions in the communities we serve including, multiple school districts, colleges/universities,
hospitals, libraries and city governments.



Our locally based Metronet team, comprised of sales and technical professionals, has the experience and qualifications to
ensure a well planned and executed service installation. We fully anticipate implementing our solution within the 180
days’ requirement listed in the RFP subject to events outside of our control. Following installation, the healthcare
participants will always have that ability to reach a live member of our team to assist with and resolve any service issues
in a timely manner.

Metronet’s solution will not only meet the healthcare participants’ current and future needs, but will also immediately
enhance its current Internet and transport service offerings. Metronet has been relentless in its pursuit to provide the
communities we serve with the best technology and products available. In addition to Internet and transport services,
Metronet provides a full suite of telecommunication services including hosted VolP (HPBX), PRIs, SIP Trunking, Managed
Wi-Fi services, traditional POTS, and IPTV.

Our proven track record of providing excellent customer service will also ensure that the healthcare participants receive
the best possible customer experience. When coupled with our competitive pricing structure, we believe our advanced
fiber services will provide not only the best possible value but will also be flexible, scalable, future proof and supported
by a company known for its unparalleled customer service.

It is Metronet’s pleasure to submit this document for consideration and agrees to perform the required tasks in
accordance with the terms and conditions specified in the master agreement. We appreciate the opportunity to earn your
business.

Should you have any questions as you review our response to this RFP, please reach out to me at 812-759-7958 as well
as the principal contact for the proposal:
Monica Piguet, Manager of Sales Engineering 317-599-1194 /monica.piguet@metronetinc.com.

Sincerely,

Kevin Stelmach, General Manager

Kevin.Stelmach@metronetinc.com

Phone (812) 759-7958
Fax (812) 759-1856



2.2 BUSINESS PROPOSAL

2.2.1 General (OPTIONAL)

Metronet was formed to build 100% fiber networks for purposes of delivering broadband voice, video and data
services to residential and business consumers. In 2005, Metro Fibernet, LLC’s affiliate, CMN-RUS, Inc., received a
$106-million-dollar loan from the Broadband Program through the US Department of Agriculture to build out 10
rural communities in the State of Indiana. After successfully deploying services in those markets, Metro Fibernet,
LLC along with CMN-RUS, Inc. (together “Metronet”) have expanded to an additional 36 communities including,
most recently, Davenport, lowa. Currently, Metronet fiber facilities pass nearly 260,000 homes and businesses.
Metronet is backed by high net worth investors and a major private equity firm. As a result of our performance
and the capital provided by these investors, Metronet has a strong balance sheet and significant resources to
operate and expand the business. In 2014, Metronet set out to bring 1 Gigabit Internet service to all communities
served by Metronet. This was another step in our continued commitment to create a foundation that will make
the cities and rural communities we serve stronger and allow them to foster innovation, drive job creation and
stimulate economic growth and development for years to come.

2.2.2. Respondent’s Company Structure
Metro Fibernet, LLC is a Nevada limited liability company, with authority to conduct business in the State of
Indiana. It has a Certificate of Territorial Authority from the Indiana Utility Regulatory Commission to provide
telecommunications services in Indiana. CMN-RUS, Inc., Metro Fibernet’s affiliate, has a statewide video
franchise. Metronet provides voice, video and data services to residential and commercial
customers. Metronet utilizes an employee holding company, Q Services, LLC for its employees.

(Refer to Appendix A for the Certificate of Authority
(Refer to Appendix B for the Organization Chart

2.2.3. Company Financial Information

Throughout our organization, Metronet has the personnel in place to provide the best long term service solution
to each Health Care Participant (HCP). Our senior management team has a history of successfully operating and
growing communications companies. Key members of this team previously oversaw the development of a long
haul fiber transport network from a company that started with 43 route miles operating in 1 State to one with
over 33,000 route miles operating in 18 states over a 12-year period. This same team has also successfully
managed the growth of Metronet from its inception. Additionally, Metronet is backed by high net worth investors
and a major private equity firm. As a result of our performance and the capital provided by these investors,
Metronet has a strong balance sheet and significant resources to operate and expand the business.

(Refer to Appendix C for the Income Statement and Balance Sheet)



2.2.4. Integrity of Company Structure and Financial Reporting
Metronet’s Chief Financial Officer (CFO) has reviewed any/all financial information supplied with this proposal
and accepts responsibility for the thoroughness and correctness of the financial documents included in this RFP.

2.2.5. Contract Terms/Clauses
Metronet agrees to perform the required tasks in accordance with the terms and conditions specified in the
master agreement:

e Authority to Bind Contractor

e Duties of Contractor, Rate of Pay, and Term of Contract
e Compliance with Laws

e Drug-free Workplace Provision and Certification

e Indemnification

e Governing Laws

e Non-discrimination clause

e Payments

e Service Level Agreement, including availability requirements
e Penalties/Interest/Attorney’s Fees

e Non-collusion and Acceptance

e Service Level Credits

(Refer to Appendix D for Master Services Agreement)

2.2.6. References
Kings Daughter’s Hospital
1373 ESR 62
Madison, IN 47250
Greg Deaton, Network Operations Director
(812) 801-0390
deatong@kdhmadison.org
Metronet Services: Wide Area Network/Transport services, Internet, phone service, and TV for all rooms and
hospital locations.
Customer since 2011

Good Samaritan Hospital

520 S. Seventh St.

Vincennes, IN 47591

Marsha Danielson, Director of Information Systems, (812)885-3855/mdanielsen@gshvin.org
Perry Snyder, Manager of Cardiac Cath Lab, (812) 885-3920

Metronet services: Internet Services and phone services. Customer since 2010




Fayette Regional Health Systems

1941 Virginia Avenue

Connersville, IN 47331

Trish Jarboe, Network Administrator

(765) 827-8846

trish)@fayetteregional.org

Metronet Services: Cable TV Service for all hospital rooms and satellite hospital office, Internet services for all
locations, phone service for all locations. Customer since 2010

Parkview Wabash Hospital

701 N. East Street

Wabash, IN 46992

David Brinson, IT Director

(260) 569-2180

dbrinson@wchospital.com

Services — Wide Area Network, internet, bulk TV
Customer since 2010

Schneck Medical Center

411 W. Tipton Street

Seymour, IN 47274

Les Chase, Manager Environmental Services/Bio-Med

(812) 522-0492

Ichase@schneckmed.org

Services — Cable TV Service for all hospital rooms and satellite hospital offices, internet service, phone service
Customer since 2007

Madison State Hospital

711 Green Road

Madison, IN 47250

Johnnetta Day, Program Director

(812) 265-7311

johnettaday@fssa.in.gov

Services — Cable TV service for all rooms on Hospital Campus
Customer since 2013

Putnam County Hospital

1542 S. Bloomington Street
Greencastle, IN 46135

Jon Hall

(765) 655-2681
jhall@pchosp.org

Services — 2 PRI’s and POTS lines
Customer since 2007




2.2.7. Authorizing Document
Respondent personnel signing the Cover Letter of the proposal must be legally authorized by the organization to
commit the organization contractually. This section shall contain proof of such authority.

(Refer to Appendix E for the Metro Fibernet, LLC Operating Agreement

2.2.8. Subcontractors

Metronet subcontracts the physical construction of the network including the placement of fiber optic cables,
conduits, splicing and fiber terminations. Prior to being eligible to participate in the work each potential
subcontract must complete a qualification process that we use to evaluate the subcontractors’ ability to perform
the requested work. The qualification process evaluates such items as management, resources, equipment,
bonding capacity, prior work history, safety, etc. After successfully completing the qualification process we then
request competitive bids from qualified contractors for specific portions of the work.

As of the date of this proposal Metronet has not entered into any subcontract agreements for the physical
construction of the proposed network. Further, we understand that Metronet is responsible for the
performance of the work, including that work which may be performed by subcontractors. Metronet will
provide the management, inspection and other resources as required to ensure that the work is completed to
the specified design, construction and quality standards for the project.

2.2.9. Redundancy
Metronet’s fiber ring topology provides full redundancy from our Point of Presence (POP) / local hut to our core
routing infrastructure. Our core routers then have the ability to automatically failover in the event of an
internet outage or fiber cut. The failover would be a transparent, non-event, transition for the customer.

2.2.10. FCC and USAC Requirements
Metronet fully complies with all FCC and USAC Requirements. The Service Provider Identification Number (SPIN)

for Metronet is 143049173.



2.3. TECHNICAL PROPOSAL

Metronet is only bidding at locations where facilities currently exist.

2.4. PHASE 1: Provide/Improve/Upgrade Connectivity to Indiana Healthcare Participants

2.4.1. Respondents may utilize qualified subcontractors to perform the work, but the selected respondent will
be responsible for all work.

Metronet will be utilizing subcontractors to perform any outside plant construction (if required) and may utilize
subcontractors to complete the inside cabling work at some locations. Metronet’s experienced field operations
team will oversee and inspect all subcontractors work to approve and ensure the quality and safety of all work
performed.

2.4.2. This RFP identifies the requirements that are to be provided to each of the healthcare participants.
Notwithstanding any of the specific details described within this RFP, it will be the obligation of the selected

respondent to adhere to accepted industry standard methods and practices.
Metronet has thoroughly reviewed the requirements for each HCP and can comply.

2.4.3. The requirements of this proposal are to obtain pricing, responsiveness, availability and a commitment
to perform work in a timely manner on an individual healthcare participant basis.
Metronet has thoroughly reviewed the requirements for each HCP and can comply.

2.4.4. Basic Internet (or equivalent) service capabilities need to be available from the respondent if required
by the healthcare participant. This includes DNS services, basic email services, Internet content filtering,
security/intrusion protection and firewall protection.
Metronet currently does not offer content filtering, security/intrusion protection or firewall products. However,
we do have partnerships in the majority of our markets with local entities who would perform these services.

2.4.5. Management reporting capabilities online to report on Internet availability and bandwidth utilization.
Reports should be updated, at a minimum, on a weekly basis.
Metronet can offer a customized portal for the end user to review the Internet traffic at their
convenience. Metronet utilizes industry leading software to monitor network usage and provide a detailed view
of network traffic and subscriber applications throughout their network along with proactive monitoring
capabilities which set alerts for exceeding bandwidth. This allows Metronet to remain proactive in monitoring
network activity and ensure a customer’s bandwidth requirements are always met.



2.4.6. Service level requirements that include proactive monitoring by a 24/7/365 operations center to
determine outages and provide corrective actions and estimated time to repair. Respondents are required to
have capability to provide 4 hour or less, mean time to restore service. Due to the critical nature of maintaining
uptime at each of these facilities, please include a proposal for enhanced service levels that will provide a
mean time to restore of 2 hours. Include in your proposal how you will achieve that goal, as well as your ability
to measure it and provide compensation when you don’t.
Metronet provides a highly-reliable, highly-redundant, state-of-the-art fiber optic infrastructure throughout the
state of Indiana, and monitors that network using advanced monitoring systems that alert our 24/7/365
Engineering and Repair functions of any outage or impairment conditions on our network. That same level of
proactive monitoring would be extended to the IRHA network that Metronet would provide if granted this
opportunity.

Metronet’s monitoring systems will proactively ping the equipment at the end of each circuit provided by
Metronet once per minute, and will alert our Repair Center of any situation that results in 3 consecutive failed
pings. The Repair Center will perform an initial assessment of the situation, and will proactively contact IFN to
alert them of the outage condition and initial cause within 15 minutes of the event start.

e Inthe event the issue is determined, in our initial assessment, to be isolated to the fiber built to the
ITN or a complete outage of the Metronet equipment at the customer’s premise, the Repair Center
will dispatch a Field Technician to assess the situation within 30 minutes of the event
start. Metronet does have a local Field Operations presence in the cities we are bidding for in the
RFP (Crawfordsville, Greencastle and Lebanon) . In addition, if the initial cause is expected to be
fiber-related, Metronet will dispatch an Outside Plant Maintenance team in anticipation of a fiber
cut repair. There is an Outside Plant Maintenance team stationed either locally within the HCP city
or nearby.

e |nthe event the issue is determined, in our initial assessment, to be related to an issue with
equipment at one of our hut sites, the Repair Center will dispatch a Field Technician to the hut site
to assess the situation. Metronet has a local Field Technician presence within 15 miles of each of
our hut sites, and can respond quickly to identify and restore any issues at that location.

e |nthe event the issue is determined, in our initial assessment, to be related to an issue on our core
network, the Repair Center will escalate to our Engineering Team, which can remotely manage all of
our core sites and has personnel within 30 miles of every core site in the event manual intervention
is required.

During any event impacting an IFN location, the Metronet Repair Center will provide updates to IFN every 15
minutes, including current status of the outage and estimated time of repair.

2.4.7. Completion of fiber optic cable (or equivalent) installation within 180 days of vendor’s receipt of a

Funding Commitment Letter from USAC.
Metronet understands and will comply subject to causes beyond our reasonable control



2.4.8. All fiber optic cable (or equivalent) must be buried when deployed on any property owned or leased by
the listed healthcare participant.
The cost estimates Metronet provided for the building entrance work are based on installing underground
service drops. However, some of the locations surveyed have aerial utilities thus we will need to follow up with
the individual sites to mitigate around this particular challenge, if awarded the contract.

2.4.9. All fiber (or equivalent) must be tested and certified after installation by the vendor.
Metronet understands and will comply. Upon completing installation Metronet will conduct tests to ensure the
performance of the fiber optic cables. These tests include bi-directional Optical Time Domain Reflectometer
(OTDR) tests verifying splice loss performance and end-to-end continuity tests across each segment of the
network.

2.4.10. Each proposal must include cost from the respondent or sub-contracted quote for any construction
cost related to any necessary conduit requirements, providing entrance facilities from the property line (Telco
pedestal) to the demarcation or minimum point of entry to each healthcare participant. Total cost of laying
conduit, core drilling or restoration of any asphalt or concrete to original landscape.
Metronet understands and will comply. These costs have been estimated and will be a portion of the overall
price provided. Upon award of the contract, Metronet will deploy our technicians to complete a thorough site
survey of each location awarded and will present any additional costs (if any).

Metronet will expect the HCP to provide us such collocation space, including the necessary easements, licenses,
permits and building entrance rights required to connect our equipment from the public right of way to the HCP
facility and the necessary HVAC services and power for our equipment without charge. See Exhibit D to the
Master Services Agreement. If provisions set forth in Exhibit D to the Master Services Agreement are not
acceptable to the HCP, Metronet will work with the HCP to negotiate in good faith mutually agreed upon
collocation terms.

2.4.11. While respondents are allowed flexibility in the methods and equipment used to create these fiber (or
equivalent) connections, IRHA requires that these are disclosed in their responses to this RFP.
Metronet will deliver a standard Ethernet handoff; however, Metronet can accommodate a fiber handoff if the
individual HCP requires it. All circuits will be riding over Metronet fiber.

2.4.12. Individual site invoicing based on the Master Contract for each healthcare participant for services.
Metronet understands the invoicing requirements and will be happy to comply with the USAC process specified.



2.5. PHASE 2: Transport to the Indiana Telehealth Network Common Platform

2.5.1. Respondents are asked to bid transport from the various healthcare participants to IFN’s cross-connect,
located at 733 West Henry Street, Indianapolis, IN. IFN will carry the traffic from their cross-connect to the
Indiana Telehealth Network’s common meet point where any participating healthcare participant can gain
secured access to any other healthcare participant on the Indiana Telehealth Network.
While the RFP mentions delivering the broadband at the IFN aggregation point located at 733 W. Henry St.
Metronet currently has a Network to Network Interface (NNI) with IFN at 701 W. Henry St. Indianapolis, IN. IFN
and Metronet have established that the existing NNI will suffice for all circuits requiring delivery to the IRHA-ITN
Common Platform at IFN’s Collocation at 701 W. Henry St. Additionally, if the existing 1Gig IFN/Metronet NNI
should be at capacity, a second 1Gig NNI would quickly be established. Therefore, because this arrangement
between Metronet and IFN is already in place, Metronet will simply deliver the transport circuits to the “IFN
NNI”.

2.5.2. The critical nature of this network encourages a level of redundancy, so as to mitigate risk of failure or

extended outages. A solution that allows for a redundant path within the local loop should be presented.
Metronet can provide alternate fiber costs and distances between each HCP location and Metronet’s fiber hut.
This would represent a completely different route/fiber path than the Primary hence helping to protect the end
user from extended outages.

2.5.3. Secured/Encryption for each healthcare participant to transmit patient information and meet HIPAA
requirements will take place on the participant’s side of the demarcation point and be the responsibility of
the individual healthcare participant.
While each participant is responsible to secure/encrypt patient data at their demarcation point, Metronet will
further enhance this level of protection by providing a dedicated, private circuit that will only pass traffic
between 701 W. Henry Street and the customer’s premises.

2.5.4. IFN will provide an entry point to the Public Internet at the meet point, allowing for bandwidth sharing
and burstable access.
The circuit provided by Metronet is an Ethernet point to point between the customer’s locations to IFN which
will support internet traffic provided by IFN. Additionally, the Transport circuits provided by Metronet can be
used for data transfers as well as to gain access to the Internet.
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2.5.5. IFN will provide a 24/7/365 support that will oversee and maintain the Indiana Telehealth Network.
Day 2 support from the Ethernet hand off at the cross connect, the entire meet point(s) operation and Internet
drainage/capacity is provided. Management will be limited to health care services only and the connectivity
between each healthcare participant.
Metronet understands IFN’s responsibility and would only add that in the event a malfunction on Metronet’s
side of the circuit is detected, IFN will need to call Metronet Repair Center for immediate resolution.
Metronet’s Network Operations Center (NOC) is comprised of highly trained maintenance and monitoring
technicians and engineers overseeing all aspects of the network 24/7/365. In addition to the NOC, Metronet has
a local retail store, staffed with local technicians, in nearly every community in which we operate providing end
users another option to take care of trouble tickets in a prompt manner.

2.5.6. Respondents will commit to Service Level Agreements that represent their ability to maintain uptime
and respond to issues in a timely manner. Service level credits should be included for non-compliance. Include
an enhanced service level that will provide for a 2-hour mean time to restore, as well as your ability to measure
it and compensate for non-compliance.

Metronet will calculate MTTR (Meantime to Repair) in the following manner:

Cumulative length of response time to an outage per connection
Total number of outage trouble tickets per connection

If MTTR exceeds 4 hours for any connection, a 1-day credit will be given for that connection as calculated as
1/30™ of the circuit’s monthly charges for every 4 hours of outage. Response and repair times are subject to
events of force majeure, and in any one month, all credits with respect to a circuit may not exceed 100% of the
monthly recurring charge for such circuit.

2.6. COST PROPOSAL

2.6.2. Format for submitting cost proposals

(Refer to Appendix F for the Pricing Spreadsheet)
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SUMMARY

The backbone of a healthcare provider is a reliable and secure network. Metronet fully understands that and will
prove it by providing the foundation for Internet and Transport services to each Health Care Participant (HCP)
with the best technology available: 100% fiber optics. Metronet will meet the specific requirements in Phase 1
of this RFP by providing the Healthcare Participants with much improved broadband connectivity of
5/10/50/100 megabits to the Internet on a network backed by a 100% fiber optic infrastructure. The HCPs will
immediately be able to take advantage of much improved, high- quality Internet connectivity that will result in a
significant upgrade from its existing services. Metronet’s services will guarantee that the HCPs and guests can
access reliable and consistent Internet service throughout the entire premises.

Likewise, with Phase 2 of this project, Metronet’s private and dedicated services will be flexible, scalable and
capable of meeting business-critical requirements. Our transport services will provide the HCPs with network
survivability, large file and image transfers and business continuity.

These fiber transport services will ensure that connectivity from a rural participant to any other healthcare
participant on the Indiana Telehealth Network Common Platform occurs seamlessly and will meet the needs for
uptime and the highest level of reliability crucial to the successful operations of the HCPs.

Metronet provides a highly-reliable, highly-redundant, state-of-the-art fiber optic infrastructure throughout the
state of Indiana and monitors that network using advanced monitoring systems that alert our 24/7/365
Engineering and Repair functions of any outage or impairment conditions on our network. By having existing
escalation and prioritization processes for handling network incidents, Metronet ensures prompt response
times.

Broadband connectivity is a critical issue facing many small towns and rural communities. Metronet’s resolve to
make every Metronet community a Gigabit city puts us among a select group in the country that can offer this
service. This service offered to residential and business customers places them at the forefront of the
broadband revolution and creates a foundation that will make the cities and rural communities we serve
stronger. This in turn allows them to foster innovation, drive job creation and stimulate economic growth and
development for years to come.

In Summary, Metronet can offer the Healthcare Participants the solutions it requires by delivering quality
Internet and Transport services over Metronet’s 100% fiber optic infrastructure plus a dedicated customer

service and technical support team located in or near the community of the HCP.

By implementing Metronet’s solutions, we look forward to helping the IRHA achieve its communications
objectives and increasing productivity and efficiency to each HCP now and well into the future.

We thank you for the opportunity to review our proposal and look forward to the next step in this process.
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APPENDIX A

Certificate of Authority



State of Indiana
Office of the Secretary of State

CERTIFICATE OF EXISTENCE
To Whom These Presents Come, Greeting:

|, CONMIE LAWSON, Secretary of State of Indiana, do hereby certify that | am, by virtue of the laws of
the State of Indiana, the custodian of the corporate records and the proper offidal to execute this
certificate.

| further certify that records of this office discose that

METRO FIBERNET, LLC

duly filed the requisite documents to commence business activities under the laws of the State of
Indiana on April 16, 2012, and was in existence or authorized to transact business in the State of
Indiana on March 19, 2018.

| further certifiy this Foreign Limited Liability Company has filed its most recent report required by
Indiana law with the Secretary of State, or is not yet required to file such report, and that no notice of
withdrawal, dissolution, or expiration has been filed or taken place. All fees, taxes, interest, and
penalties owed to Indiana by the domestic or foreign entity and collected by the Secretary of State
have been paid.

In Witness Whereof, | have caused to be affixed my
signature and the seal of the State of Indiana, at the City
of Indianapolis, March 19, 2018

Corenies A\ ausarn,

CONMIE LAWSON
SECRETARY OF STATE

2012041700146 / 2018565719
Verify this certificate-https://bsd_sos_in gov/Validate Certificate
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APPENDIX B

Organization Chart
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APPENDIX C

Income Statement and Balance Sheet
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METRONET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017
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Fﬂaj-r'er Hoffman McCann P.C.
700 W 47th 5t Ste 1100 = Kansas City, MO 64112
Main: 816.945.5600 » Fax: B16.897_1280 » www.mhmcpa.com

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members
METROMET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Metronet Holdings, LLC and
Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2018 and 2017, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, members' capital and cash flows for the years then ended and
the related motes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management's Responsibilities for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation and maintenance of imternal conftrol relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or emor.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Owr respensibility is to express an epinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted owr audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plam and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing precedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or emor. In making those risk assessments, the awditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in crder to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s intermal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit alse includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our apinicn, the consolidated financial statements refermed to above present fairy, in all material respects,
the financial positicn of Metronet Holdings, LLC and Subsidiares as of September 30, 2018 and 2017, and the

results of its operations and cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

WW%M 77(2:«_”.% °C.

Kansas City, Missour
January 11, 20158

i
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METROMNET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

COMSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September 30, 2018 and 2017

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance
(2018 - $1,072,869; 2017 - $1,002,689)

Prepaid expenses and other assets
Financing receivables, cument portion

TOTAL CURREMNT ASSETS

FINANCING RECEIVABLES, less cument portion above

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, at cost,
less accumulated depreciation

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BONDS

INTAMGIBLES, at cost,
less accumulated amortization

OTHER ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
CURREMNT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accounts payable - affliate
Defermed revenue, cument portion
Other accrued liabilities
Line of credit
Current portion of long-term delst
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

LONG-TERM DEBT, less cument portion above
RELATED PARTY COMVERTIBLE DEBT
TOTAL LIABILIMES

MEMBERS'CAPITAL
MEMBERS" CAPITAL
Subscriptions receivable
TOTAL MEMBERS' CAPITAL

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' CAPITAL

2018 2017

6479675 3 5,396,764
6,533,961 5,768,880
1,315,438 1,231,068
365,215 221,343
15,244,309 12,618,055
1,090,208 390,473

255,424,007 201,315,919

183,114 234,000
18,491,883 18,884,223
BE1,667 971,667
697 663 25,650
291,992851 _§ 734 439 957
4470660 S 3,747,815
2737 i
5,555,033 4,732,403
17,389,039 14,639,953
126,211,203 15,000,000
z 10,196 866
153,628,672 48 317,037
183,114 234,000
: 35,991,252
2,000,000 2,000,000
155,811,786 BE,542,289
137,211,518 149,206,412
(1,030,453) (1,308, 714)
136,181,085 147,897,698
291992851 § 234 435 987

See Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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METROMNET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017
SALES, net 103,440,752 88, 760, 880
COST OF SALES
Depreciation 25,044,970 20,991,797
Other 36,474 802 30,642 B74
Subtotal 61,519,772 51,634,671
GROSS PROFIT 41,920,980 37,126,209
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries 32952 111 24,098,550
Depreciation and amortization 2 505 667 2. 768,422
Administration and other 13,321,919 11,900,996
Subtotal 48,779,697 38,767,968
OPERATING LOSS {6,858.717) {1,641,753)
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Interest income 1,013,104 862,727
Interest expense {5,890,978) (2,183,333)
Gain (less) on disposal of property and eguipment (119,948) 16,328
Unit option epxnese {562 B47) (331,754)
Subtotal {5,560,669) {1,635,032)
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES (12,419,386) (3,277, 791)
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 175,851 249 670
MET LOSS (12,595, 237) (3,527 461)

See Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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METROMNET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF MEMBERS' CAPITAL

Years ended September 30, 20138 and 2017

Members' capital, September 30, 2016 3 118,729,980
Membership contributions 33,761,161
Unit compensation expense 367,732
Met loss (3,527 ,481)
Dividends paid (125,000)
Subscriptions receivable (1,305 714)

Members' capital, September 30, 2017 147 BT 638
Unit options exercised 2,000
Unit compensation expense 598,310
Met loss (12,535,237)
Subscrptions receihable collected 275 204

Members' capital, September 30, 2018 5 136,181,065

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
4
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METROMET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Met lass
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Gain (loss) on disposal of property and equipment
Provision for bad debts
Stock compensation expense
Dervative asset
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Lease receivable
Other assets
Accounis payable
Accrued liabilities
Defermad revenues
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Purchase of property and equipment

Acquisition of intangibles - \Warsaw fiber

Redemption of economic development revenue bonds
Purchase of economic dewelopment revenue bonds
Proceeds from lease receiables

Froceseds from sale of available-for-sale securnties
Purchase of available-for-sale securities

MNET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Procesds from line of credit
Payments on long-termn debt
Dividends paid

Unit options exemised

Membership subscrptions receivable

MET CASH FLOWS FROM FINAMNCING ACTIVITIES
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AMD CASH EQUINALENTS, BEGINNIMG OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUINALENTS, END OF YEAR

NOMNCASH INVESTIMNG AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Property and equipment acquisitions financed with accounts payable
Property and egquipment acquisitions from cancelled financing receivables

Financing receimbles equipment transferred from property and equipment

OTHER CASH DISCLOSURES

Interest paid

Bond purchases

See Notes to Conzolidated Financial Statements
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2018 2047
[12,585,237) % (3.527.461)
27 550,837 23,760,218
119,048 {16,328)
733427 335,720
528,310 367,732
(646,008} L
(1,548,527) (890,219)
(24,372) 161,755
23,887 31,231
{26.007) 33.830
(425,321} (352.454)
2,748,088 1,613,143
822,831 B16,853
17,272,260 21,433,828
480,316 111,287
(B2,380,724) (82,720,465)
L (29,058)
382,340 475,000
. 73.222)
505,334 524,137
: 106,015,202
. (86,018,825)
(80,092,734} (61.726.042)
111.211.203 15,000,000
(46,188,118} (2,771.429)
. (125,000}
2.000 33,761,161
278,284 (1,308,714}
65,303,370 37,558,018
1,582,811 (2,736, 185)
5,306,764 8,132,950
6070675 5 5,308,784
1150803 3§ 1,711,362
- s 1,392,818
1372838 § -
5000872 & 2,184,130
- 5 73.222




(1)

(2)

METRONET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
HOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Nature of operations

The consolidated financial statements include the amounts of Metronet Holdings, LLC (the
Company) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Metro FiberMet, LLC, Metronet Technologies, LLC,
Metronet Systems Holdings, LLC, and ©-Comm, Inc. The Company was formed on December
20, 2013, but had no operating activity until January 2, 2014.

Metro FiberMet, LLC (MFN) iz a “fiber to the premizes” overbuilder that offers cable, internet and
telephone (local and long-distance) services to commercial and residential customers in several
communities in Indiana, lllinois, and Kentucky. MFN iz a wheolly owned subsidiary of the
Company.

Metronet Technologies, LLC was created to establish the various construction contracts and has
no financial activity during the years ended September 20, 2018 and 2017.

Metronet Systems Holdings, LLC (MSH) is a “fiber to the premises” overbuilder that offers cable,
internet and telephone (local and long-distance) services to commercial and residential
customers in several communities in Indiana and llincis. MSH is a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company.

Q-Comm, Inc. (Q@-Comm) serves as a holding company and owns 100% of CMN-RUS, Inc.
(CMN). CMN, formerly known as Cinergy MetroMet, Inc., iz a "fiber to the premises" overbuilder
that offers cable, intermet and telephone (local and long-distance) services to commercial and
residential customers in several Indiana communities. Q-Comm is a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Principles of consolidation - All significant intercompany accounts and fransactions between
the Company and itz Subsidiaries have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

Use of estimates - The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to
make estimates and assumpiions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consclidated financial statements,
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents - The Company considers all liguid investments with original
maturities of three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents. At September 30, 2018 and
2017, cash and cash equivalents consisted primarily of checking accounts. At times, balances in
these accounts are in excess of federally insured limits. Management monitors the soundness of
the insttutions involved and feels the Company's nisk is negligible. The Company has not
expenenced any losses in such accounts

Accounts receivable - Accounts receivable are stated at the amounts billed to the customers,
plus any accrusd and unpaid interest. The Company provides an allowance for doubtful accounts,
which iz based upon a review of the outstanding receivables, historical collection information and
existing economic condiions. Accounts receivable are ordinarly due 30 days after the issuance
of the invoice. Accounts past due by more than 90 days are considered delinguent. Delinguent
receivables are written off based on individual credit evaluation and specific circumstances of the
customer.
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METROMNET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
HOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Property and equipment - Property and equipment acquisitions are recorded at cost and
depreciated over the estimated useful life of each asset. Leasehold improvements are amortized
over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the improvements. The
Company capitalizes equipment acquigitions greater than $1,000. Depreciation iz computed using
the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Estimated
Assets Useful Lives
Switch facilities 5 years
Fiber line 153 years
Real estate and buildings 39 years
Computer eqguipment 3 years
Software 3 years
Transportation equipment 5 years
Leasehold improvements 3-5years

Property and equipment under construction includes inventory and expenditures for projects
primarily related to new fiber oplic cable route installation and collocation projects.

Long-lived asset impairment - The Company evaluates the recoverability of the camying value
of long-lived assets whenever events or circumstances indicate the camying amount may not be
recoverable. If a long-lived asset is tested for recoverability and the undiscounted estimated
future cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset is less
than the cammying amount of the asset, the asset cost is adjusted to fair value and an impairment
loss iz recognized as the amount by which the camying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds itz
fair value. Mo asset impaimnent was recognized during the years ended September 30, 2018 and
2017

Economic development revenue bonds - Economic Development Revenue Bonds are
classified as held to maturity and camied at amortized cost when management has the positive
intent and akility to hold them to maturity. Interest income is realized over the life of the bonds
bazad on bond coupon redemptions. Management evaluates securities for other-than-temnporary
impairment (OTTI) when economic or market conditions wamant such an evaluation. The
Economic Development Revenue Bonds are payable solely and only from TIF Revenues
generated by property tax payments over the life of the bonds. As a result, the Company must
periodically evaluate whether it is likely to experence credit loss, which must be recognized in the
conzolidated atatements of operations in the period the impaiment occurs. The credit loss is
defined as the difference between the prezent value of the cash flows expected to be collected
and the amortized cost basis. The Company has not identified or recorded any credit losses as of
September 30, 2018 or 2017.

Intangible assets - Intangible assets consist primarily of assets from the acquisition of Warsaw
Fiber on July 27, 2016, Amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives:

Assets Method Useful Life
Goodwill Straight-line 10 years

Goodwill - Beginning in 2016, the Company adopted the accounting altemnative offered to
nonpublic entiies for the subseguent measurement of goodwill In accordance with this
altemative, the Company amortizes goodwill over ten years on the straight-line basis and only
evaluates goodwill for impairment at the entity level when a triggering event ocours.

Unit option plan - The Company has a wunit-based employee compensation plan, which is
described more fully in Note 11.
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METRONET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
HOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Unit option plan - The Company has a unit-based employee compensation plan, which is
described more fully in Mote 11.

Income taxes - The Company's members have elected to have the Company's income taxed as
a partnership under provisions of the Intemal Revenue Code and a similar section of the state
income tax law. Therefore, taxable income or loss is reported to the individual stockholders for
inclusion in their respective tax retums and except as noted below, no provizion for federal and
state income taxes is included in these statements. With a few exceptions, the Company is no
longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local or non-U.S. income tax examinations by fax
authorities for years before 2013.

The Company files consclidated federal and state income tax returns with its subsidiares, except
for CMMN, which files separate federal and state income tax retums. CMM has elected to have its
income taxed as a "C" corporation and accounts for income taxes in accordance with income tax
accounting guidamce (ASC 740, Income Taxes). The income tax accounting guidance results in
two components of income tax expense: curment and deferred. Cument income tax expense
reflects taxes to be paid or refunded for the cument period by applying the provisions of the
enacted tax law to the taxable income or excess of deductions over revenues. The Company
determines deferred income taxes using the liability (or balance sheet) method.

Under this method, the net deferred tax asset or liability iz based on the tax effects of the
differences between the book and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and enacted changes in tax
rates and laws are recognized in the peried in which they cccur. Defemred income tax expense
results from changes in defermed tax assets and liabilities between perods. Defermmed tax assets
are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of evidence available, it is more
likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. Tax positions
are recognized if it is more likely than not, based on the technical merits, that the tax position will
be realized or sustained upon examination.

The term more likely than not means a likelihood of more than 50 percent; the terms examined
and upon examination also include resolution of the related appeals or litigation processes, if any.
A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold i initially and
subsequently measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that has a greater than 50 percent
likefinood of being realized upon setement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all
relevant information. The determination of whether or not a tax position has met the more-likely-
than-not recognition threshold considers the facts, circumstances and information available at the
reporting date and iz subject to management's judgment. With a few exceptions, CMN is no
longer subject to US. federal, state and local or non-U.S. income tax examinations by fax
authorities for years before 2013.

CMN recognizes interest and penalties on income taxes as a component of income tax expense.

Revenue recognition - Revenues based on a flat fee, derived principally from cable television,
local telephone, data communications, internet access service and residentiallbusiness
broadband service, are billed in advance and recognized in subsequent periods when the
services are provided. Revenues based on usage, derived primarily from long-distance services,
are recognized monthly as services are provided. Revenue billed to other camiers for use of the
Company's fiber lines iz recognized on the cash basis, which approximates the accrual basis.

Taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities - Taxes collected
from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are presented in the accompanying
conzolidated statement of operations on a net basis.

Advertising - The Company expenses adveriising costs as they are incurred. Adverising

expenses for the years emded September 30, 2018 and 2017 amounted to $1,469,128 and
31,034,521, respectively.
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METRONET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
HOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Self-ingsurance - The Company has elected to self-insure certain costs of employee health and
accident benefit programs. At September 30, 2018 and 2017, accrued expenses include an
accrual of $3. 475546 and $2,380,192, respectively, for claims incurred but not yet paid. The
Company has various stop loss policies in place that limit exposure to $175,000 annually, per
participant and an aggregate annual kess of $1,000,000.

Contingent liabilities - The Company from time to time may be parties to or targets of lawsuits,
claims, investigations, and proceedings, including personal injury, commercial, contract, health
and safety, and employment matters, which are handled and defended in the ordinary course of
business. The Company accrues a liability for such matters when it is probable that a liability has
been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. When a single amount cannot be
reasonably estimated but the cost can be estimated within a range, the Company accrues the
minimum amount. The Company expenses these costs, including those expected to be incurmed
in connection with a loss contingency, as incurred. The Company has an accrued liability of
$1,200,000 and $0 for these items at September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Financing receivable

The Company has direct financing lease agresments for various construction equipment used by
sub-contractors working on the Company's installation projects. Interest income is recognized
basad on the implicit interest rates on the leases. The Company expects to collect the financing
receivables in full; therefore there is no allowance for bad debis recorded. The Company has
recorded liens on the equipment to perfect its security interest in the collateral.

The following is a schedule of expected receipts during the years ending:

Years ending September 30,

2019 ¥ 365215
2020 376,299
2021 282 595
022 262,018
2023 169,296
Thereatter -
Total 3 1,455.423

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost Listed below are the major classes of the
telecommunications plant at September 30, 2018 and 2017

2018 217
Cost - in senice
Switch facilities $ 110314444 % 50,044 985
Fibeer line 143,959 879 110,132,604
Real estate and buildings 6,366,099 5,885,708
Software and Computer equipment 6,018,231 3,152,837
Transporiation equipment 10,788 574 6,394 980
Leasehold improvements 2131947 1,687,522
Total cost 279,579,174 219,795,639
Cost - under construction 83,945,155 66,069,921
Property held for sale 835,181 1,957,715
Less: accumulated depreciation (108,185,507) (85,610,359)
Met property and equipment 3 255424007 5 2N.315919
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METRONET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
HOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINAHNCIAL STATEMENTS

Economic development revenue bonds

In August 2010, CMN purchased a $1,750,000 revenue bond issued by the City of Wabash,
Indiana. The City of Wabash, Indiana, Morth Manchester, Indiana and the County of Wabash,
Indiana, izsued the Economic Development Revenue Bonds to generate funds to be utilized by
the Economic Development Group of Wabash County to induce the construction of economic
development faciliies. The bond iz payable over 20 years with an interest rate of 4%. CMN
received $1,621,005 from the Economic Development Group of Wabash County for CMN's
invesiment in economic development faciliies, fiber optic network infrastructure, in the City of
Wabash, North Manchester and the County of Wabash, Indiana.

In Movember 2010, CMN purchased a $1,500,000 revenue bond izsued by the City of Huntington,
Indiana. The City of Huntington, Indiana issued the Economic Development Group of Huntington
County to induce the construction of economic development faciliies. The bond iz payable over
25 years with an interest rate of 4%. CMN received 51,408,230 from the Economic Development
Group of Huntington County for CMN's investment in economic development faciliies, fiber oplic
network infrastructure, in the City of Huntington, Indiana.

In December 2010, CMN purchased a £377,000 revenue bond issued by the City of New Castle,
Indiana. The City of New Castle, Indiana issued the Economic Development Revenue Bonds to
generate funds to be utilized by the Economic Development Group of Henry County to induce the
construction of economic development facilities. The bond is payable over 15 years with an
interest rate of 4.5%. CMHN received 5287 088 from the Economic Development Group of Henry
County for CMM's investment in economic dewvelopment facilities, fiber optic network
infrastructure, in the City of New Castle, Indiana.

In September 2011, MFN purchased a $1,000,000 revenue bond issued by the City of Lebanon,
Indiana. The City of Lebanon, Indiana issued the Economic Development Revenue Bonds to
generate funds to be utilized by the Economic Development Group of Boone County to induce the
construction of economic development facilities. The bond iz payable over 25 years with an
interest rate of 4%. MFM received 3880, 750 from the Economic Development Group of Boone
County for MFN's investment in economic development faciliies, fiber oplic network
infrastructure, in the City of Lebanon, Indiana.

In June 2012, MFN purchased a 32,750,000 revenue bond issued by the City of Franklin, Indiana.
The City of Franklin, Indiana issued the Economic Development Revenue Bonds to generate
funds to be ulilized by the Economic Development Group of Johnson County to induce the
construction of economic development facilities. The bond is payable over 25 years with an
interest rate of 4%. MFN received $2,639 215 from the Economic Development Group of Johnson
County for MFM's investment in economic development facilities, fiber optic network
infrastructure, in the City of Franklin, Indiana.

In Movember 2012, MFN purchased a $6 500,000 revenue bond issued by the City of Lafayette,
Indiana. The City of Lafayette, Indiana issued the Economic Development Revenue Bonds to
generate funds to be ulilized by the Economic Development Group of Tippecanoe County fo
induce the construction of economic development facilites. The bond iz payable over 25 years
with an interest rate of 4%. MFN recsived $6,396 297 from the Economic Development Group of
Zippecanoe County for MFN's investment in economic development facilities, fiber optic network
infrastructure, in the City of Lafayette, Indiana.

10
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METRONET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
MOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FIMAHMCIAL STATEMENTS

Economic development revenue bonds (continued)

In MNovember 2012, MFN purchased a $2,500,000 revenue bond issued by the City of West
Lafayette, Indiana. The City of West Lafayette, Indiana issued the Economic Development
Revenue Bonds to generate funds to be utilized by the Economic Development Group of
Tippecanoe County to induce the construction of economic development facilities. The bond is
payable over 25 years with an interest rate of 4%. MFN received $2.416,027 from Economic
Development Group of Tippecanoe County for MFMN's investment in economic development
facilities, fiber optic network infrastructure, in the City of West Lafayette, Indiana.

In July 2015, MFN purchased a $1,200,000 revenue bond issued by the City of Crawfordsville,
Indiana. The City of Crawfordsville, Indiana issued the Economic Development Revenue Bonds
to generate funds to be utilized by the Economic Development Group of Montgomery County to
induce the construction of economic development faciliies. The bond iz payable over 25 years
with an interest rate of 5%. MFM received 31,200,000 from Economic Development Group of
Montgomery County for MFN's investment in economic development facilities, fiber oplic nebwork
infrastructure, in the City of Crawfordsville, Indiana.

In July 2015, MFN purchased a $2,500,000 revenue bond issued by the City of Westfield,
Indiana. The City of Westiield, Indiana issued the Economic Development Revenus Bonds to
generate funds to be utilized by the Economic Development Group of Hamilton County to induce
the construction of economic development facilities. The bond iz payable over 25 years with an
imterest rate of 4.5%. MFN received $2 447 028 from Economic Development Group of Hamilton
County for MFM's investment in economic development faciliies, fiber oplic network
infrastructure, in the City of Westfield, Indiana.

In March 2017, MFN agreed to purchase a $1,500,000 revenue bond issued by the Town of
Zionzville, Indiana. The Town of Zionsville, Indiana issued the Economic Development Revenue
Bonds to generate funds to be ufiized by the Redevelopment Commission to induce the
construction of economic development facilites. The bond is payable over 25 years with an
interest rate of 4. 0%. MFN expects to receive 51,426, 7780 from the Redevelopment commission
for MFN's investment in economic development facilities, fiber optic network infrastructure in the
Town of Zionsville, Indiana during 2018. As of September 30, 2017 MFN has paid $73,223
related to this bond.

These investments are recorded at cost which approximates fair value, and classified as held to
maturity on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The repayment of the bonds is
contingent on the incremental taxes received by the respective municipalities as a result of the
additional investments made in ceriain districts. During the years ended September 30, 2018 and
2017, there were $392 340 and $475,000, respectively, in redemptions made on the bonds
discussed above.

The outstanding balance of the bonds was $18,491 883 and $18,884 223, respecilively as of
September 30, 2018 and 2017, and iz shown ag economic development revenue bonds on the
accompanying consclidated balance sheet As there is no obligation to the Company, the
izsuance of the above bonds reduces the initial cost of the assets purchased with the proceeds
generated from the issuance.
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METROMET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
HOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Intangibles
Intangibles consist of the following balances at September 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 217
Goodwill g 1,100,000 % 1,100,000
Less: accumulated amortization (2358,333) (128,333)
Net Goodwill ¥ B61,667 % 971,667

Future amortization of intangibles is as follows:

Years ending September 30,

219 $ 110,000
2020 110,000
21 110,000
L 1 110,000
2023 110,000
Thereafter 311,667

Total -] 861,667

Long-term debt

In 2005, CMN entered into a promissory note payable to the United States of America, acting
through the Administrator of the Rural Utilities Service (RUS), to provide bomowings up to
$106,785,000. In March 2010, CMN signed a new promissory note for $69,036,329 (the balance
remaining under the original promissory note). Advances under the new note were made through
March 14, 2012, at which time further advances were suspended in accordance with the terms of
the promissory note. Amounts will be due no later than March 14, 2022, The agreement requires
monthly interest payments beginning the date of each advance accruing at the Direct Cost of
Money Interest Rate, published by the Secretary of the Treasury. Rates for outstanding advances
currently ranged from 1.95% to 4.79% during the years ended as of September 30, 2018 and
2017. Qutstanding borrowings are secured by substantially all assets of CMM. The agreement
containg certain restrictions as to the use of the proceeds as well as payments of dividends or
redemption of capital stock.

Dwuring Drecember 2017, the Company paid this debt in full with funding available from its Line of
credit.

Line of credit

In December 2017 the Company entered into a revelving line of credit facility with a financial
ingtitution with a maximum amount of $185,000,000. The revolving line of credit facility will mature
on September 30, 2022, at which ime all bomowings and accrued interest are due. The line of
credit is collateralized by substantially all assets of the Company. Interest is payable monthly and
varies daily at the bank’s prime rate with a range of 5.29% to 7.25% at September 30, 2015.

The Company is required to comply with certain financial covenantz, as defined by the credit
facility agreement. As of September 30, 2018, the Company was in compliance with these
financial covenants.
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METROMET HOLDIMNGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
HOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Line of credit (continued)

During the year ended September 30, 2018, and as part of the refinancing with CoBank, the
Company entered into two interest rate swap agreements (the “agreements”) with noticnal
amounts of $40,000,000 and $42,500,000 and fixed interest rates of 2.5% and 4%, respectively.
The fair value of the interest rate swaps have been valued on a mark to market basis and has
been recorded as a derivative asset in the consclidated statements of financial position. The
change in the fair value of the interest rate swap has been reflected as a non-operating activity in
the consolidated statements of activities.

The following table sets forth, by level within the fair value hierarchy, the Company’s financial
assets that were measured at fair value on a recuming basis as of September 30, 2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Interest rate swap $ - 3 646006 3 -

Members’ equity

Prior to January 2, 2014, members' equity consisted of the consolidated members' equity of the
Company's wholly-owned subsidiaries discussed further in Note 1. At January 2, 2014, previcushy
held interests in the wholly-owned subsidianes were converied to Class A Interests of the
Company at rates ranging between $0.35 and $0.45 per interest.

During the year ended September 30, 2015 certain nonexecutive employees purchased
435,926.63 Class A Interests for $461,565.62. During the year ended September 30, 2016 certzin
nonexecutive employees purchased 214,739.74 Class A Interests for $3187,944.43. During the
yvear ended September 30, 2017 nonexecutive employees purchased 775,967 Class A Interests
for 51,047,554, which are included in subscriptions receivable at September 30, 2018 and 2017

Amended and restated limited liability company agreameint

In connection with the formation of the Company on January 2, 2014, the Company
simultansously entered into the Amended and Restated Limited Liakbility Company Agreement of
Metronet Heoldings, LLC (the LLC Agreement). The LLC Agreement authorizes the issuance of
Class A-1 Interests and Class A Interests, and the Company is authorized to izsue additional
interests, as determined by the Company Board, as defined in the LLC Agreement. Class A-1
Interest holders and Class A Interest holders (collectively, the Members) share in profits and
losses equally in proportion to each Members' capital account compared to the whole. The LLC
Agreement authorizes the creation of a Company Board constituting five Managers, as defined in
the LLC Agreement. Effective October 1, 2017, as part of the Amended and Restated Limited
Liability Company Agreement, all Class A-1 interests were exchanged for Class A interests.
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METROMET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUESIDIARIES
HOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{9) Members’ equity (continued)
Members' equity congists of the following at September 30, 2015 and 2017:

2018 2017

Class A Interesis:

As of September 30, 2018 and 2017 interests issued
and outstanding were 229,001,142 and 220,694,412,
respectively. $ 232023474 § 233012,331

Less: Subscriptions receivable outstanding, as of
September 30, 2018 and 2017, interests issued and

outstanding of 792 655 and 969 419, respectively. (1,0:30,453) {1,308, 714)
Retained members' deficit (24 811.989) {683,805, 919)
Total members' equity $ 136,181,032 $ 147 B97 658

On January 2, 2014, the Company entered into an Interest Purchase Agreement with various
investors including the OCak Hill Investors (collectively, "Oak Hill"), as defined in the LLC
Agreement, to sell 60,000,000 Class A membership interests (Purchased Interests) for an
aggregate purchase price of $60,000,000 (Purchase Price). The Purchased Interests wil be
acguired in two tranches. In the first tranche, Oak Hill will acquire 40,000,000 of the Purchased
Intereste and will pay the Company $40,000,000 of the Purchase Price. Oak Hill acquired the first
instaliment of the first tranche, which included 30,000,000 Purchased Interests, on January 2,
2014 for $30,000,000. Oak Hil acquired the second installment of the first tranche, which
included 10,000,000 Purchased Interests, on January 17, 2014 for $10,000,000. No change in
control occurred with the sale of the first tranche of Purchased Interests. For the second tranche
of Purchased Interests, Oak Hill acquired the installments of 5,000,000 Purchased Interests for
$5,000,000 each on December 14, 2014, February 27, 2013, September 3, 2015, and November
17, 2015.

Sale of Class A Interests

On Movember 17, 2015, Cak Hill purchased a total of 5,000,000 Purchased Interests for
$5,000,000 as the final part of the acquisition of the second tranche of Purchased Interests. No
change in control cccumed with the sale of the second franche of Purchased Interests.

On December 4, 2015, pursuant to Schedule Il of the Agreement, 5 Talents Fund contributed
$1,500,000 in exchange for 1,304,347 83 Class A Interests.

On December 11, 2015, pursuant to Schedule Il of the Agreement, 5 Talents Fund contributed
$3.500,000 in exchange for 3,043 478.26 Class A Interests.

On December 28, 2015, pursuant to Schedule 1l of the Agreement, on behalf of Albert E Cinelli,
the Albert E Cinelli and Sharon A. Cinelli 2014 Revocable Trust contributed 31,000,000 in
exchange for 569, 565.22 Class A Interests.

On December 29, 20135, pursuant to Schedule |1 of the Agreement the following members made
confributions to the Company on behalf of Albert E Cinelli the Albert E Cinelli and Sharon A.
Cinelli 2014 Revocable Trust contributed 35,750,000 in exchange for 5,000,000 Class A
Interests; and the Oak Hill Investors confributed $45,000,000 in exchange for 39,130, 43478
Class A Interests bringing the overall capital contribution of the Oak Hil Investors fo
$110,000,000.
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METROMET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

HOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Members’ equity (continued)

On December 31, 2015, pursuant to Schedule | of the Agreement the following members made
contributions to the Company:. Lohn Weber contributed $150,000 in exchange for 130,435.78
Class A Interest; Steve Biggerstaff conitributed $135,000 in exchange for 117,391.30 Class A
Intereste; and Wawve Division Capital IV, LLC contributed 34,500,000 in exchange for
3,913,043.45 Class A Interests.

On December 31, 2015, consistent with the verbal agreement disclosed in Schedule 3.4(b) of the
Purchase Agreement, the Company issued 84 32096 Class A Interests to Lohn Weber.

On January 1, 2016, the Company issued 87 000 Class A Interests to the Albert E Cinelli and
Sharon A Cinelli 2012 Revocable Trust, dated January 20, 2014 on behalf of Albert E. Cinelli; and
87,000 Class A Interests to 5 Talents Fund, LLC on behalf of John Cinelli az an employment
bonus; and 65,000 Class A Interests to Lohn Weber as an employment bonus.

On December 15, 2016, the Company issued 355 497 Class A Interests John Cinelli in exchange
for certain loans made to employees of the Company valued at $355,497 33,

On December 23, 2016, pursuant to Schedule Il of the Agreement 5 Talents Fund, LLC
contributed $519,502.67 in exchange for 354,816.79 Class A Interesis.

On December 31, 2016, pursuant to Schedule Il of the Agreement the Oak Hill Investors
contributed $15,000,000 in exchange for 11,111,111.11 Class A Interests bringing the overall
capital contribution of the Oak Hill Investors to $125,000,000; and John Greenbank contributed
31,000,000 in exchange for 740,740.75 Class A Interests.

On June 30, 2017, pursuant to Schedule |l of the Agreement The Oak Hill Investors contributed
$15,000,000 in exchange for 11,111,111.11 Class A Interests bringing the overall capital
contribution of the Cak Hill Investors to $140,000,000; and the 5 Talents Fund, LLC contributed
$450,000 in exchange for 333,333.33 Class A Interests.

On July 13, 2017, pursuant to Schedule || of the Agreement John Greenbank conftributed
$240,000 in exchange for 177, 777.75 Class A Interests.

On August 7, 2017 pursuant to Schedule |l of the Agreement John Iber contributed $185,000 in
exchange for 137 037.04 Class A Interests.

Unit subscriptions plan

During the year ended September 30, 2011, the Company adopted a subscriptions plan to allow
certain employees to participate in an offering of unitz at a stated price. A second franche of
subscriptions was issued during December 2016 to qualifying individuals. Subscriptions
receivables outstanding amounted to $1,030,486 and $1,308,714 at September 30, 2018 and
2017, respectively, and which are due December 2021 and bear interest at 6%. These amounts
are shown as subscriptions receivables in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Unit option plan

On March 20, 2014, the Company adopted the Metronet Holdings, LLC Equity Incentive Plan (the
Plan), which iz member approved, and was amended as of May 20, 2015, May 10, 2017, and
February 5, 2018 and permits the grant of unit interests to its employees for up to 13,500,000
Class A units. The Company believes that such awards better align the interests of its employees
with those of its members. Option awards are generally granted with an exercise price equal to

the market price of the Company's units at the date of grant; these option awards generally west
kasad on ten years of continuous services and have ten-year confractual terms.
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METROMNET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

HOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Unit option plan (continued)

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of the grant using a Black-Sholes
option valuation model that uses the assumptions noted in the following table. Expected volatility
is based on historical volatility of a telecommunications industry index. The expected term of the
options granted represents the period of time that options are expected to be outstanding. The
rick-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the options is based on the U.S. Treasury
yield curve in effect at the time of the grant.

Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Shares Exercise Price  Remaining Life
Qutstanding, September 30, 2017 4163000 % 1.97
Granted 4034, 750 1.35
Forieited {662 000) 1.35
Outstanding, September 30, 2017 7535750 % 1.97 10017
Granted 4 975,000 1.60
Exercised (2,000) 1.35
Forfeited {15,750) 1.35
Outstanding, September 30, 2018 12496000 3% 222 9.74
Expected volatility 24%
Expected dividends 0%
Expected term (in years) 10
Risk-free rate 3.06%

A summary of option activity under the plan during the years ended September 30, 2018 and
2017, iz presented below:

The weighted average grant date fair value of opticns granted during the years ended September
30, 2018 and 2017 was 3046 and 0.4, respectively, per option. There were no oplions
exercised or exercisable as of or during the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.

As of September 20, 2018 and 2017, there was $5,384,8265 and $3,209,585, respectively, of
total unrecognized compensation cost related to the non-vested ownership interest-based
compensation amangements granted under the Plan. That cost iz expected to be recognized over
a weighted-average period of nine years. Mo shares vested during the years ended September
30, 2018 and 2017.
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METROMNET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FIMAMCIAL STATEMENTS
{12) Operating leases
The Company leases office faciliies and equipment under operating leases. Rent expense
charged to operations for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $714,337 and
$512,423, respectively.

The future minimum rental payments required under operating leases that have initial or
remaining non-cancellable lease terms in excess of one year are as follows:

Years ending September 30,

2019 S £23,000
2020 419,100
2021 340,900
2022 301,700
2023 214,100
Thereafter 507,600

Total $ 2406400

{13) Retirement plan

The Company is a participant in a defined confribution plan sponsored by an affiliate company
that covers substantially all employees. The Company's contributions to the plan are determined
annually by the Board of Directors. For the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the
Company matched 100% of employee defemals up to 3% of eligible compensation and 50% of
employee defemals from 3% to 6% of eligible compensation. Contributions to the plan were
$925 931 and $782 320, respectively, for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017

{14) Income taxes

A reconciliation of income tax expense at the statutory rate to actual income tax expense is
shown below:

September 30,
2018 2017

Computed at the statutory rate (24%) 5 1,885,457 ¥ 3,062,859
Increase (decrease) resulting from:

State income taxes, net operating loss benefit 11,005 357,738

Graduated rates and other items (489,339) 188,359

MNondeductible expenses and other 6,527 25,084

Changes in deferred asset valuation allowance {1,228 471) (3,384 400)

Actual tax expense 5 185,179 b 249,670
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METROMET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
HOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income taxes (continued)

The tax effects of temporary differences related to defermed taxes shown on the consolidated
balance sheet are as follows:

September 30,

2018 2017
Defemed tax assets
Allowance for doubtful accounts 5 188,969 3 262 600
AMT credit camyforward 421,991 150,800
et operating loss camyforwards 3,053 452 5,600,500
3,664 412 6,013,900
Deferred tax liahilities
Accumulated depreciation (2,002 528) (3,190,800}
Prepaid expenses (=, 855) (28,600)
(2 008_383) (3,219,400)
Met defermed tax asset
before valuation allowance 1,566,029 2,794 500
‘Waluation allowance
Beginning balance {2,794 500) (&,178,900)
Increase during the penod 1,228 471 3,384 400
Ending balance (1,566 029) (2, 794 S500)
Met deferred tax liability 3 - 3 -
Defermed tax asset - cument 1 183,114 3 234 000
Deferred tax liability - longtem {183,114) (234 000)
Met deferred tax liability 5 = 5 =

As of September 30, 2018, CMN had approximately $0 of net operating loss camyforwards
available to offset fulure state income taxes, and approximately 30 of net operating loss
camyforwards available to offset future federal income taxes. The carmyforwards will expire
between 2025 and 2033.

Related party transactions

At September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company had accrued for amounts payable to an affiliate
totaling approximately $3,148 107 and 53,611,731 related to purchases of eqguipment, operating
supplies and employee salary and benefit expenses. The Company recorded approximately
334,217,232 and 525,323,438, respectively, during 2018 and 2017 for employee salares and
benefits costs which are paid by Q-Services, LLC, a company related by common cwnership.

In addition, at September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company had cutstanding convertible notes
payable totaling $2 000,000 due to a member. Unpaid principal and interest iz due on May 30,
2033, unless it is accelerated earlier by the Company, with interest paid quarterly at an annual
rate of 10%. On the date of maturity (May 30, 2032 or eardier if accelerated by the Company), the
member may convert the principal balance to one share of Q-Comm common stock and one unit
of MFH for every $0.45 of principal balance outstanding.
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METROMET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
HMOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Related party transactiong (continued)

The Company owns fiber networks which are ulilized by CMN, MSH and MFMN. The operating
expenses associated with these networks are charged to these affiliates based on the number of
potential subscribers. All intercompany charges and comresponding receivables and payables
have been eliminated in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive loss.

Significant estimates and concentrations

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require dizclosure of
certain significant estimates and cumrent vulnerabiliies due to certain concentrations. Those
matters include the following:

General litigation

The Company is subject to claims and lawsuits that anse pnmarly in the ordinary course of
business. It is the opinion of management that the disposition or ultimate resolution of such
claims and lawsuits will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position, results of
operations and cash flows of the Company.

Segment information

The Company operates in a single industry segment. Thig industry segment is characterized by
rapid technological change, significant capital expenditures, and significant competition.

Commitments

The Company has entered into numerous collocation agreements that allow it to locate
equipment in faciliies owned by telecommunication providers. Additionally, the Company is
involved in numerous pole attachment agreements, which allows it to extend its fiber oplic
nebwork.

Typically, these agreements involve locating multiplexing/muxing equipment {a rack) in local
exchange carmier (LEC) central offices. These agreements have specified beginning and ending
dates; however, absent notification from either party of the intent to end the agreement, they then
automatically convert to a menth-to-month agreement with no specified ending date. These
agreements typically require minimal rental payments for the use of the space and are assumed
to exist in near perpetuity. Should the Company elect to exit such an agreement, the terms
provide that it is responsible for both the removal of the equipment and filker as well as the cost of
retuming the space to its original condition.

ASC 410, Asset Retirement and Environment Obligations requires a liability to be recognized in
the pericd in which (1) a legal obligation to retire a long-lived asset exists, and (2) the fair value of
the obligation based on refirement cost and setilement date reasonably estimable. The
Company believes it has a legal obligation to remove the aforementioned equipment and to
restore the faciliies upon termination of agreements. However, it believes it does not have a
reasonable basis by which to assign probabiliies to the timing of the potential agreement
terminations and, accordingly, cannot reasonably estimate the fair value of the asset retirement
obligation.

Subseguent events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through January 11, 2019, which is the date the
conzolidated financial statements were available to be issued. No significant matters were
identified for disclosure during this evaluation.
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Mayer Hoffman McCann P.C.
TO0 W 47Tth 5t 5te 1100 » Kansas City, MO 64112
Main: 816.945 5600 = Fax: 16.897_1280 » www.rnhimcpa.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS* REPORT ON SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

To the Members
METRONET HOLDINGS, LLC AMD SUBSIDIARIES

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Metronet Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries, (the
“Company™) as of and for the year ended September 30, 20158 and have issued our report thereon dated
January 11, 2019 which contained an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. Our
audit was performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consoclidated financial statements taken
as a whole. The accompanying supplemental informatiom on pages 21 through 26 is presented for
purposes of additional analyesis and is not a required part of the conzolidated financial statements. Such
information ks the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements and cerain addiional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated
financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In
our opinicn, the information is fairly stated in all material regpects in relation to the consclidated financial
statements taken as a whole.

WW%M 7?(2':5&,-,«; PC.

Kansas City, Missouri
January 11, 2019

{HEEE’T&H Member of Kreston intemationa — 8 giobai network of independant accounting Mms
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METRONET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS

September 30, 2018 and 2017

Metronet Metronet Systems Metro Fiberhet,
Holdings, LLC Holdings, LLC LLC QComm, Inc. Eliminations Consolidated 2018 _Consolidated 2017
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 5 4037308 § 191,458 § 1,203,001 § 1547007 3 - s 6OTIETS 5 5,396,764
it ble (net of all - 2,661,248 1,129,224 2,773,409 - 6,583,961 5,766,680
Accounts receivable - affiliate - 2,950,968 - 5,131,597 (8,082,565) - -
Prepaid expenses and other assets - - 1,292,917 22521 - 1,315,438 1,231,068
Financing receivables, cument portion - - 365,215 - - 365215 221,343
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 4,037,308 5,623,774 3,990,357 9,475,424 (B,082,565) 15,244,309 12,618,055
FINANCING RECEINABLES, less cument portion above - - 1,090,208 - - 1,090,208 390,473
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, at cost,
less accumulated depreciation . 53,109,396 163,600,895 38,713,916 5 255 424,007 201,315,919
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES - - - 183,114 - 183,114 234,000
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT REVEMUE BONDS - - 16,317,883 2,174,000 - 18,491,883 18,884,223
INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY 111,639,931 - - - (111,639,931) - -
INTANGIBLES, at cost,
less accumulated amortization - - - 861,667 - 851,667 971,667
OTHER ASSETS 658,905 - 35,114 3,644 - 697,663 25,650
TOTAL ASSETS 5 116336145 § 58933170 § 185034257 § 51,411,775 5 (119,722 496] 5 291,992,851 5 234 438 967
LIABILITIFS
CURRENT LIABILIMES
Accounts payable 5 - 5 11470 $ 4040881 3 418309 § - s 4470660 $ 3,747,815
Accounts payable - affiliate 1,030,453 g 7,054,843 5 (8,082, 565) 2737 .
Deferred revenue, curment portion - 2,277,108 1,035,690 2242235 - 5,555,033 4,732 403
Other accrued liabilities 131,154 3,036,326 11,260,552 2,960,507 2 17,330,039 14,630,953
Line of credit 126,211,203 - - - - 126,211,203 15,000,000
Current portion of long-term debt - - - - - - 10,196,866
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILMES 127,372,810 5,325,404 23,391,972 5,621,051 (8,082,565) 153,628,672 48,317,037
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES - - - 183,114 - 183,114 234,000
LOMG-TERM DEBT, less current portion above - - - - - - 35,991,252
RELATED PARTY CONVERTIBELE DEBT - - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 2,000,000
TOTAL LIABILITIES 127,372,610 5,325,404 25,391,672 5,804,165 (8,082,555) 155,611,786 36,542,289
MEMBFRS CAPITAL
MEMBERS' CAPITAL (10,008,212) 53,607,766 159,642,285 45 607,510 (111,639,931) 137,211,518 149,206, 412
Subscriptions receivable (1,030,453) - - - - (1,030.453) (1,308,714)
TOTAL MEMBERS' CAPITAL {11,036, 665) 53,607,766 159,642,085 45607 610 {111,639,931) 136,181,065 147,897,698
TOTAL LIABILITES AND MEMBERS' CAPITAL § 116,336,145 3§ 56933170 § 185034257 3§ 1411775 § (119,722 496) _§ 291,992,851 5 234 439,987
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SALES, net

COST OF SALES
Depreciation
Other

Subtotal

GROSS PROFIT

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries
Depreciation and amortization
Administration and other
Subtotal

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)

Interest income:

Interest expense

Gain {loss) on disposal of property and equipment

Unit option epxnese

Subtotal

INCOME {LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

MET INCOME (LOSS)

METRONET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

‘Years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017

Metronet Metronet Systems Metro FiberMet,

ings, LLC Holdings, LLC LLC QComm, Inc. C i 2018 C 2017
- 5 43395898 % 13,833683 § 46211171 § : ] 103440752 8 68,760,680

- 11,423,200 5,551,985 8,069,785 25,044,570 20,991,797

- 14,866,224 6,358,101 15,250,477 36,474,802 30,642 874

= 26,230,424 11,910,088 23,320,262 51,519,772 51,634,671

- 17,106,474 1,923,597 22 890,900 41,320,980 37,126,209

= 7,610,042 18,051,396 7,290,673 32,852,111 24,098,550

- 1,908,712 241,800 355,155 2,505,667 2,768,422

2,964 4,889,661 4,375,589 4,053,705 13,321,919 11,900,996
X 14,408,415 3 668,785 11,699,535 48,779,597 38,767,068
(2,964) 2,698,059 (20,745,188) 11,191,376 (6,858,717) (1,641,759)
92,503 518,681 90,297 211,623 1,013,104 862,727
(1,851,050) (209,161) (200,000) (3,630,767) (5,890,978) (2.183,333)
- N (100,321) (19,627) (119,948) 16,328
(598,313) 2,200 20,564 12,702 (562,847) (331,754)
(2,356, 860) 411,720 (160,460) (3,426,083) (5,560,660) [1,636,032)
(2,359,824) 3,109,779 (20,934.648) 7,765,307 (12,419,386) (3,277,791)
- - - 175,851 175,851 245 670
(2,359,824) § 3109779 § (20,934,648) S 7589456 $ H (12,595,237) § (3,527,461)
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METROMNET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUESIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF MEMBERS' CAPITAL

Years ended September 30, 2015 and 2017

45

Metronet
Metronet Holdings, Systems
LIC Holdings, LLC Metro Fiberhet, LLC QComm, Inc. Elimination Total
Members' equity (deficit), October 1, 2016 % 166,135,752 & 4,907,356 (15,356,502) (36,956, 626) 118,729,980
Membership contributions 33,500,000 46,286,103 134,528,316 4 (180,553,258) 33,761,161
Unit compensation expense 367,732 - - - - 367,732
Net income (loss) (296,960) 1,186,472 (13,175,865) 8,758,892 = (3,527,461)
Dividends paid {125, 000) (19,500,000 - - 19,500,000 (125,000)
Dividends received 4,000,000 - - - (4,000,000) -
Subscriptions receivable (1,308,714) 8 % ] 3 (1,308,714)
Members' equity (deficit), September 30, 2017 202,272,810 27,972,575 126,259,807 (6,597,610) (202,009,684) 147,897,698
Membership contributions (233,328,255) 44,025 412 66,000,000 44 615,764 78,687,079 :
Unit options exercised 2,000 - - - - 2,000
Unit compensation expense 598,310 - - - - 598,310
Net income (loss) (2.359,824) 3,109,779 (20,934,648) 7.589,456 - (12,595,237)
Dividends 21,500,000 {21,500,000) (11,682,874) 4 11,682,674 =
Subscrptions receivable collected 278,294 - - - - 278,254
Members' equity (deficit), September 30, 2018 $ (11,036665) $  S3,607,766 § 158,642,285 § 45,607,610 (111,639,931) 136,181,065
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Comprehensive loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Provision for bad debts
Stock compensation expense
Derivative assat
‘Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Lease receiwble
Otther assets
Accounts payable
Acerued liabilities
Deferrad revenues

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Procesds from sale of property and equipment
Purchase of property and equipment
Acquisition of intangibles - Warsaw fiber

n of economic dewel rewenue bonds
Purchase of economic development revenue bonds
Procesds from lease receivables
Procesds from sale of available-for-sale securities
Purchase of awilable-for-sale securities

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Procesds from line of credit
Payments on long-term debt
Dividends paid
Unit options exercised

NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITES

MET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUNALENTS, EMD OF YEAR

NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Property and equipment acquisitions financed with accounts payable

Property and equipment acquisitions from cancelled financing receivables

. equipment d from property and equipment
OTHER CASH DISCLOSURES
Interest paid

Bond purchases

METRONET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

‘Years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017

Metronet Metronet Systems Metro FiberNet, 2018 Cx i d 2017 C i d
Holdings, LLC Holdings, LLC LLC QComm, Inc. Total Total

3 (2.250.824) % 3,108,779 ¥ (20,934,848) 3 7.580,456 3 - 3 (12,585,237} % (3.527.461)
- 13.331.012 5,703,785 B.424 040 - 27 550,637 23.780.218
& o 100,321 19,627 = 118,848 (18,328}

- 327349 77.058 320018 - 733427 335720

588,310 E & = & 588,310 387,732

(B48,008) 5 K L = (848,008) L

- (2.948.455) 18,380 (5.122,583) 4,758,142 (3.208,527) (990,210)

= E (145,268) 60,806 = (84,372) 161,755

s E 23,807 = = 23,807 3231

(12.200) - (13,108) - - {26,007) 33,820

280,453 (8.257) 6,087,002 (260,377) {4,756,142) 1,324,679 (@52,454)

131.154 1.140.560 45,662 1.431.704 & 2.740.026 1.612.142

= 488,820 283,828 00,178 = 822,831 816.883

(2.008,812) 15,423,717 (8,705,487) 12,562,858 = 17,272,266 21,433,820

= = 447,781 42,555 % 490,318 111,287
- (23.816.168) (55,441,504 {3.123,052) - {82,380.724) (82,720 465)

- - - - - - (20,058)

- - 85,340 307.000 392,340 475,000

- - - - - (73,222)

- - 505,334 - - 605,334 524,137

- - - - - - 106,015,202

£ - - = - - (26.010,025]
= 23.816.188) (54,403,088} L TT3,487) = (80,992,734 (61,726,042}

128,211,203 {15.000.000) 2,100,000 (2,100,000} - 111,211,203 15,000,000

E; 5 E (48,188,118) = (46,188,118) (9.771.420)

~ _ R - - - {125,000)

2,000 E = - = 2,000 33,781,161

278.204 E 5 = = 278,204 (1.308,714)

4.474.481 7.525.412 62,875,840 (8,672,354 - 65,303,379 37.556.018
2485660 (867.038) (132.728) 117.007 & 1.582.911 (2.736.195)
1.571,640 1.058.487 1,335,727 1,430,800 = 5,396,764 8.132,8508

3 4.037.308 3 101.458 3 1.203.001 3 1.547.007 3 - 3 5.970.875 3 5,306 764
3 = 3 i 5 1,150,003 § 3 3 5 1,150,003 $ 1,711,362
3 E 3 - 3 - 3 - 3 - 3 - ¥ 1,392,818

5 - 5 - 5 1,372,638 $ - 3 3 5 1372838 § 3
3 1.851.060 3 209.161 3 200.000 3 3.630.787 3 - 5 5.890.978 5 2.184.130
5 = 3 = $ = £ = 3 = ] = 5 73,222
24
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CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash eguivalents
A ts Ble (net of alk

Accounts receivable - afiiliate

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Financing receivables, cument portion
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

FINANCING RECEINABLES, less current portion above

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, at cost,
less accumulated depreciation

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BONDS
INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY

INTAMGIBLES, &t cost,
less accumulated depreciation

OTHER ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITES

Accounts payable

Accounts payable - affliate

Defemred revenue, cument portion

Other accrued liabilities

Line of credit

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES
RELATED PARTY CONVERTIBLE DEBT

TOTAL LIABILMES

MEMBERS" CAPITAL
Subscriptions receivable
TOTAL MEMBERS® CAPITAL

METROMET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

BALANCE SHEETS — ESTABLISHED AND DEVELOPMENT MARKETS

September 30, 2018

TOTAL LIABILIMES AND MEMBERS' CAPITAL §

Metronet Metronet Systems Metro FiberNet,
Holdings, LLC Holdings, LLC QComm, Inc. Eliminations Subtotal LLC Eliminations Total
ASSETS
¥ 4037309 § 191,458 3§ 1,547,907 5 - 3 5776674 § 1,203,001 = ¥ B,979,675
- 2,681,248 2,773,409 - 5,454,757 1,129,224 - 6,583,981
- 2,950,968 5,131,597 (8,082,565) - - - -
= o 251 - 22,521 1,227 - 1,315,438
e 2 - - - 365,215 - 365,215
4,037,309 5,823,774 9,475,434 (8,082,565) 11,253,952 3,990,357 - 15,244,309
_ . - - - 1,090,208 - 1,090,208
= 53,109,398 38,713,918 = 91,823,312 163,600,895 e 255,424,007
- - 183,114 - 183,114 - - 183,114
s =L 2,174,000 = 2,174,000 16,317,883 = 18,491 883
111,639,931 = & = 111,629,931 = (111,639,831) .
- - 861,667 - 861,667 - - 861,667
658,905 - 3,644 - 662,549 35,114 - 697 663
5 116336145 § 58933170 § 51411775 § (8.082.565) % 218598525 § 185,034 257 (111639931 % 201,892,851
LIABILITIES
$ - $ 1470 3 418308 $ - 3 423779 § 4,040,881 = $ 4,470 560
1,030,453 = = (1,030,453) 8 7,054,849 (7.054,843) -
- 2,277,108 2,242,235 - 4,519,343 1,035,690 - 5,555,033
131,154 3,036,826 2,960,507 - 6,128,487 11,260,552 - 17,369,039
126,211,203 - - - 126,211,203 - - 126,211,203
127,372,810 5,325,404 5,621,051 (1,030,453) 137,288,812 23,391,972 (7.054,843) 153,625,935
- - 183,114 - 183,114 - - 183,114
s = - = = 2,000,000 e 2,000,000
127,372,810 5,325,404 5,604,165 (1,030,453) 137,471,926 25,391,972 (7,054,845 155,809,049
MEMBERS' CAPITAL
(10,006,212) 53,607,766 45,607,610 (7,052,112) 82,157,052 159,642,285 (104,585,082) 137,214,255
(1,030,453) - - - (1,030,453) - - (1,030,453)
(11,036,665) 53,607,766 45 607,610 (7,052,112 81,126,599 159,642 285 (104,585,082) 136,183,802
116,336,145 § 55933170 § 51411775 § (8.082.565) § 218598525 § 185,034,257 (111,639.931) § 291,992 851

25
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METRONET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUESIDIARIES
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS — ESTABLISHED AND DEVELOPMENT MARKETS

Year ended September 30, 20156

Metronet Metronet Systems Metro Fiberhlet,
Holdings, LLC Holdings, LLC QComm, Inc. Subtotal LLC Eliminations Total
SALES, net 3 = 3 4339898 § 46211171 § B89,607069 § 13,8336683 § i 3 103,440,752
COSTOF SALES
Depreciation = 11,423,200 8,060,735 19,492,985 5,551,985 . 25,044,970
Other - 14,866,224 15,250,477 30,116,701 6,358,101 - 36,474,802
Subtotal = 26,289,424 23,320,262 43,609,666 11,910,066 - 61,519,772
GROSS PROFIT - 17,106,474 22,650,909 39,997,383 1,923,597 - 41,920,980
COPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries = 7,610,042 7,290,673 14,800,715 18,051,396 32,952,111
Depreciation and amortization - 1,908,712 355,155 2,263,867 241,600 - 2,505,667
Administration and other 2,964 4,880,661 4,053,705 5,346,330 4,375,589 = 13,321,919
Subtotal 2,964 14,408,415 11,699,533 26,110,912 22,668,785 - 48,779,657
COPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (2,964) 2,696,059 11,191,378 13,886,471 (20,745,188) 2 (6,858,717)
QOTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Interest income 92,503 518,681 211,623 922,807 90,297 1,013,104
Interest expense (1,851,050) (209,161) (3,630,767) (5,690,978) (200,000 - (5,890,978)
Gain on disposal of property and equipment z 2 (19,627) (19,627) (100,321) = (119,948)
Unit option epxnese (598,313) 2,200 12,702 (583.411) 20,564 - (562,547)
Subtotal (2,356,860) 411,720 (3,426,069) (5,371,209) (189,460) = (5,560,669)
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES (2,359,8624) 3,109,779 7,765,307 8,515,262 (20,934,648) - (12,419,386)
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES - - 175,851 175,851 - - 175,851
MET INCOME (LOSS) 3 (2,359.824) § 3109779 § 7583456 § 8,339411 § (20,934 548) $ - 3 (12,595,237)
26
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METROMNET HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS — ESTABLISHED AND DEVELOPMENT MARKETS

Year ended September 30, 2018

Metro FiberNet,

¥
Holdings, LLC Holdings, LLC QComm, Inc. Subtotal Total
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Comprehensive loss 3 (2359,824) & 3109779 3 758045 % B,339411 S (20,934648) § - s (12,595,237)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization - 13,331,912 8,424,940 21,756,852 5,793,785 - 27 550,637
Gain on disposal of property and equipment - - 19,627 19,627 100,321 - 119,948
Proiision for bad debts = 327,349 329,019 656,368 77,059 = 733,427
Stock compensation expense 588,310 - - 598,310 - - 598,310
Derative assat (646,006} - - (646,006} - - (646,006)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable = (2,948,455) (5,122,583) (8,071,038) 16,369 4,756,142 (3,298,527)
Prepsid expenses = - 60,896 60,896 (145,268) - (84,372)
Lease receivable - - - - 23,697 - 23,697
Other assets (12,899) 3 & (12,899) (13,108) i (26,007)
Accounts payable 260,453 (6,257) (260,377) 13,819 6,067,002 (4,756,142) 1,324,679
Accrued liabilitiss 131,154 1,140,560 1,431,704 2,703,418 45 668 - 2749,086
Defened revenues - 468,829 90,176 559,005 263,626 - 822,631
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (2.008,812) 15423.717 12,562,858 25,977,763 (B.705497) - 17,272,266
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment - - 42,555 42 555 447 761 - 490,316
Purchase of property and equipment - (23,816, 168) (3,123,052) (26,939,220) (55,441,504) - (B2,350,724)
; ion of i t revenue bonds % E 307,000 307,000 35,340 392,340
Proceeds from lease receivables - - - - 505,334 - 505,334
NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES - (23,816,168) (2,773,457) (26,569,665) (54.403,06%) - (B0,992,734)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from line of credit 126,211,203 (15,000,000) (8,100,000) 103,111,203 8,100,000 - 111,211,203
Payments on long-tem debt 7 = (46,168,118) (46,188,118) - - (46,188,118)
Contributions to subsidiaries (122,017,016) 22,575 412 44 615,764 (54,875,840) 54 875,840 i i
Uit opticns exercised 2,000 - - 2,000 - - 2,000
i iptions rece 278,24 . = 278,294 o - 278,294
MET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 4474 481 7525412 (9.672,354) 2,327,539 £2,975 840 - 65,303,379
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,465 663 (867.039) 117,007 1,715,637 (132,726) = 1,582,911
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,571,640 1,058,497 1,430,800 4,081,057 1335727 = 5,306,764
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR 3 4,037,309 5 191458 3 1,547,907 % 5776674 § 1,203,001 3 = 3 6,979,675
27
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[NDLANA RURAL HEALTH ASSOCIATION. INC
MASTER CONTRACT
THIS MASTER. CONTRACT (the “Agreement™) is entered into this day of

2019 by and between Metro Fibernet, LLC
(“Supplier™), whose address 1s 3701 Communications Way,

Evansville, IN 47715 and
an (*Customer™),
whose address iz (heremafter,

Supplier and Customer may be referred fo in the aggregate as “Parties,” and each
singularly as a “Party™).

Becitals

WHEREAS, Customer desires to purchase network transport and other
telecommunications services from Supplier; and

WHEREAS, Supplier is willing to provide such network transport and other
telecommunications services to Customer on the terms and conditions contained herein.

WHEREAS, Supplier and Customer anticipate that this Agreement will be
approved by the Universal Service Administrative Company (“USAC™) and that USAC
will provide a Funding Commitment Letter as a result of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants
contained herein. and other good and valuable consideration. the Parhies agree as follows:

ARTICLEI
SERVICES

11 Services

(a} During the Initial Term (as hereinafter defined) of this Agreement, Customer may
order from Supplier the network transport and other telecommunications services
wdentified on the attached Exhjbit “A™ (the “Services™) at the rates, term and
charges identified therein by submitting to Supplier its order for such Services on
such form as Supplier may prescribe from time to time (each an “Order for
Services”). Each Order for Services submitted by Customer and accepted by
Supplier shall be comsidered a separate contract between the Parties that
meorporates the terms of this Agreement.

(b) Supplier shall provide to Customer the requested Services identified and agreed
upon in an Order for Services, which shall contain the specific description of the
Services ordered, applicable charges and, period of time that Customer agrees to
purchase such Services. The pricing for the Serwices shall be set forth m each
Order for Service, which prices will remain fixed for the applicable Order for
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Services submitted by Customer and accepted by Supplier during the Initial Term
of this Agreement.

{c) Orders for Services will be transmitted and processed in accordance with the
procedures set forth in Exhibit “B ~. which prﬂ-redure-s may be amended from
time to time by Supplier upon thirty (30) days prior wntten notice to Customer.

(d) If additional construction of facilites and Supplier provided Customer premises
equipment are required to provide any Service requested by Customer, Supplier
may gquote such additional costs to Customer, including the terms of payments
and any termination charges. If such additional costs, terms and conditions are
accepted by Customer, the Order for Services applicable to such Services shall be
revised to ncorporate such additional costs, terms. and conditions as agreed upon
by the Parties and shall be signed by the Parties. If Supplier provides equipment
for installation at Customer’s premises, such equipment shall at all ime remain
the property of S-UPFI].I.EI' and Supplier shall be allowed to enter the premises and
recover Supplier’s equipment for a period of thirty (30) days upon termination of
the applicable Order for Services m the same condition as it was originally
delivered, normal wear and tear excepted. If Customer fails to allow Supplier to
enter the premises to recover any Supplier provided equipment, Customer shall be
liable to Supplier for the replacement cost thereof, which costs shall be paid by
Customer within thirty (300 days of invoice from Supplier.

(e} Network Operations and SLA defimtions are set forth in Exhibit “C* which
procedures may be amended from time to time by Supplier upon thirty (307 days
prior written notice to Customer.

(fy If Customer will be locating any equipment within any Supplier facilifies
Customer shall execute an Equipment Colocation Agreement in the form attached
as Exhibit “E”. To the extent the terms of this Agreement conflict with any
Equipment Colocation Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall control.

(g) If any changes to services are reguested by the Customer once the confract is
mutiated, they mmst meet all requirements found in the FCC’s Healtheare Connect
Fund Order 47 CFE. sections §34.646: 746 Appendix D. 47 CFR §54.646 and be
approved by USAC to be eligible for any potential FCC fimding.

1.2 Term: Termination.

(a) Thiz Agreement is for a term of three (3) years commencing on the date the
Services are installed (the “Imitial Term™) and shall automatically renew for
additional one (1) year perieds unless either party gives the other party notice of
its imtent not to renew at least sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of the then
current term, provided, however, that thiz Agreement shall remain in effact and
be incorporated into every Order for Services for the entire term of every Order
for Services. It is expressly understood and agreed that each Order for Services
shall continue in full force and effect, including incorporation of the terms of this
Agreement. during its term notwithstanding any termination or expiration of this
Agreement.

Page 2 of 2

52



{(b) The imifial term of each Order for Services shall be the term identified in such
Order for Services. If at the expiration of the inifial term specified in each Order
for Services, Customer shall not have exercised any option to renew contained
therein or entered into a new Order for Services with Supplier for such Services,
then the existing Order for Services shall automatically renew for additional one
(1) year peniods until the Order for Services is terminated by either Party upen
thirty (307 days” prior written notice.

(c) If any Services are terminated after execution of the applicable Order for Services
and prior to service commencement date for such Order for Services, Customer
agrees to pay to Supplier: (i) those costs reasonably incurred by Supplier through
the date of receipt of termination and (ii) any non-recurnng fees Supplier incurs
from other Suppliers in connection with cancellation of the Services.

(d) If any Services are terminated after the service commencement date for such
Order for Services and prior to the expiration of the initial term of such Services
contained in the applicable Order for Services for any reason other than a Default
by Supplier as set forth in Section 1.02(g) then Customer agrees to pay Supplier
an early discomnection charge equal to: (i} fifty percent (30%:) of the monthly
recurring charges for the Services multiplied by the number of months remaining
in the initial term; (ii) any fees Supplier incurs from other Suppliers in comnection
with cancellation of the Services; and (iii) any oufstanding imvoices or other
amounts stll owed by Customer. Such payment shall be due within thirty (30)
days of the effective date of cancellation.

(e} Upgrading of on-net eircuits to those of higher capacity is considered a service
upgrade in which case the oniginal circuit is not considered terminated; provided,
however, the Order for Services for the upgraded circuit must be of equal or
lenger term to the original circmit to aveld the early disconnection charge.

(f) If the Federal Commumications Commission, a state Public Utilities or Service
Commission of a court of competent jurisdiction, issues a mle, regulation, law or
order which has the effect of canceling, changing or superseding any matenal
term of provision of this Agreement or am Order for Services (collectively,
“Regulatory Requirement™). then the Parties shall attempt to mutually agree on
a modification and amendment of this Agreement and the affected Order for
Services in such a way as is necessary to comply with such Regulatory
Eequirement. Should the Parties not be able to agree on modifications necessary
to comply with a Regulatory Fequrement within thirty (30) days after the
Repulatory Pequirement 1s effective, then upon written notice either Party may, to
the extent practicable, terminate that portion of this Agreement or Order for
Services impacted by the Regulatory Requirement, or if the entire Agreement or
the affected Order for Services is impacted in such a way as to make continuation
impossible, either Party may terminate the Agreement or the affected Order for
Services with no further obligation or liability hereunder, and Customer shall not
be liable for disconnection charges hereunder, except any non-recurring fees
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Supplier incurs from other Suppliers in connection with cancellation of such
Services and any outstanding mvoices stll owed by Customer.

(g) The occumrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute a
default and breach of thiz Agreement (each, a “Defaulf™):

i. Either Party’s insolvency, dissolution or cessation of business
operations;
1. Customer’s failure to pay any delinguent invoice or amount owed;
. Customer’s frandulent or illegal use of the Services: and
iv. Any assignment of this agreement that violates Section 4.10.

i(h) In the event of a Default under this Agreement or an Order for Services by a
Party, the other Party may terminate this Agreement or the affected Order for
Service upon thirty (30) days written notice, unless the breaching Party cures the
breach during the thirty (30) day peniod.

i1} Upon any Default by Customer not cured before the expiration of the applicable
notice and cure period, Supplier may, at is sole option, do any or all of the
following:

1. Cease accepting or processing Orders for Services and suspend
Services;

ii. Cease all electronically and manually generated information and
TEpOTts;

. Draw on any letter of credit, secunty deposit or other assurance of
payment and enforce any security interest provided by Customer;

iv. Terminate this Agreement and any and all Orders for Services
without liability to Supplier;

v. Collect from Customer the disconnection charges; and/er

vi. Pursue such other legal or equitable remedy or relief as may be
available to Supplier.

L3 Billing: Payment.

(a) Customer shall pay to Supplier all recurnng and non-recurring charges for the
Services at the rates and charges set forth on the applicable Order for Services.
All charges shall be due and payable by Customer to Supplier within thirty (30)
days of the inveice date (the “Due Date™). The recurring charges shall be
mveiced monthly in advance. Supplier’s billing cycle will follow the calendar
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month. A pro-rated portion of the first month’s Service will be included on the
first mvoice plus the next month’s Service in advance. Non-recurming charges
will be included on the invoice for month in which meurred.

ib) The Parties acknowledge that cerfain Services will be eligible for Healthcare
Connect Fund finding from USAC ("HCF Fundimg™). Supplier makes no
Tepresentations or warranties with respect to the eligibility or neligibility of the
Services or any Service component for the HCF Funding. Payment for the HCF
Funding Services will be in accordance with the Healthcare Connect Fund
{(“"HCF”) mules as posted on the USAC website. In the case of HCF Funding
Services, Customer will pay thirty-five percent (35%) of the invoice submitted by
Supplier. Supplier shall then submit the partially paid invoices to USAC, but
Supplier acknowledges that Customer cannot control the timing of payments made
by USAC. Supplier shall itemize and completely separate project invoices from
any and all existing mvoicing Company has with Customer. In addition, separate
accounting identifiers shall be used. In the case of non-HCF Funding Services,
Customer shall pay to Supplier one hundred percent (100%) of all recurnng and
non-recurring charges for the Services at the rates and charges set forth on the
applicable Order for Services.

(c) All charges due and payable by Customer to Supplier shall be due within thirty
(30) days of the invoice date (the “Dwue Date™). The recuming charges shall be
mvoiced monthly in advance. Supplier’s billing cycle will follow the calendar
month. A pro-rated portien of the first month’s Service will be included on the
first invoice plus the next month’s Service in advance. Non-recurning charges will
be included on the invoice for month in which incurred.

(d) If any amounts owed by Customer are not paid on the Due Date: (1) a late charge
shall acerue on all amoeunts non paid when due equal to one and one-half percent
(1 %=%) (or the maximum legal rate, if less) of the unpaid balance per month. In
the even a payment is received by Supplier and is returned for insufficient funds
of bank charges, to the extent permitted by law, the Customer will pay to Supplier
a late charge of twenty-five ($25.00) per retumed item and any interest due on
past amounts.

(e} If during the term of this Agreement HCF fimds are not made available for any
fiseal period of the Agreement succeeding the first fiscal period, Customer shall
remain bound by the terms and conditions set forth hereunder and be fully
responsible for all non-recurring and monthly recurning charges, as set for on the
applicable Order for Services. for the remaining terms of the Agreement.

L4 Credit Approval: Deposits.
Customer acknowledges that delivery of the Services is subject to credit approval
by Supplier. Customer further acknuwledges that Customer may be required to pay a

depusn before delivery of the Services is authorized by Supp].lﬂ' provided that such
deposit shall not exceed three months of anticipated monthly recurring charges under the
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applicable Order for Services. At such time as the provision of Services to Customer
under an Order for Service that was subject to a secumity deposit is terminated, the
balance of any cash deposit (not otherwise credited against any amounts owed to Supplier)
will be refunded.

1.

L7 1]

Tazes: Assessments.

Customer is responsible for the collection and remittance of all governmental
assessments, surcharges and fees pertaining to its resale of the Services (other than taxes
on Supplier's net income) (collectively “Tazes™) unless Customer provides Supplier
with, and maintain, valid and properly executed certificate(s) of exemption for the Taxes,
as applicable.

1.6 Imsurance. Supplier shall maintain during the term of this Agreement all
insurance required to satisfy its obligations under this Agreement and all insurance
required by Applicable Law. At a minimum and without limiting the foregoing
undertaking. Supplier shall mamtain the following msurance: (a) Commercial General
Liability Insurance, on an occurrence basis, meluding but not limited to, premises-
operations, broad form property damage, products/completed operations, confractual
Liability, independent contractors, and persomal injury, with limits of at least $2.000,000
combined single limit for each occurrence; (b) Commercial Motor Vehicle Liability
Insurance covenng all owned hired and non-owned wehicles, with limits of at least
$2.000,000 combined single limit for each ocourrence; and (c) Worker's Compensation
Insurance as required by Applicable Law and Employer’s Liability Insurance with limits
of not less than 2,000,000 per occurrence.

1.7 NMopdiscrimination, This covenant is enacted pursuant to the Indiama Ciwil
Rights Law, specifically including IC 22-9-1-10, and in keeping with the purposes of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, and the Amencans
with Disabilities Act. Breach of this covenant may be regarded as a material breach of
this Agreement. but nothing in this covenant shall be construed to imply or establish an
employment relationship between Customer and any applicant or employee of the
Supplier or any subcontractor.

Pursuant to the Indiana Civil Rights Law, specifically including IC 22-9-1-10, and in
keepmg with the purposes of the federal Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age
Disenimination in Employment Aet, and the American with Disabilities Act, the Supplier
covenants that it shall not discriminate against any emplovyee or applicant for employment
or any matter directly or indirectly related to employment, becanse of the employee or
applicant’s: race, color, national onigin, religion, sex, age, disability, ancestry, status as a
veteran, or any other charactenistic protected by federal, state, or local law (“Protected
Charactenistics™). Furthermore, Supplier certifies compliance with applicable federal laws,
regulations, and executive orders prohibiting diserimination based omn the Protected
Characteristics in the provision of services.
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The Supplier understands that Customer 15 recipient of federal funds, and therefore,
where applicable, Supplier and any subcontractors agree to comply with requisite
affirmative action requirements, including reporting, pursuant to 41 CFE Chapter 60, as
amended, and Section 202 of Executive Order 11246.

ARTICLEII
WARRANTIES

2.1 Non-Collusion and Acceptance,. The signatory for the Supplier attests,
subject to the penalties of perjury, that he/she is the Supplier, or that he/she is the
properly authonzed representative. agent. member or officer of the Supplier, that
he/she has not, nor has any other member, employee, representative, agent or
officer of the Supplier, directly or indirecfly, to the best of the undersigned’s
knowledge, entered into or offered to enter inte any combination, collusion or
agreement to receive or pay, and that he/she has not received or paid, any sum of
money or other consideration for the execution of this Agreement other than that
which appears upon the face of this A greement.

1.2 Warrapges,

{a) Supplier represents and warrants to Customer that it has the nght to provide to
Customer the Services specified herein and in any Order for Services and that it
has the right, power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under
this Agresment.

{(b) Supplier represents and warrants that the Services are in compliance with all
applicable federal. state and local laws, miles and regulations and administrative
and regulatory requirements, and Supplier shall be responsible for obtaining and
maintaining all approvals, registrations and certifications required by such
authorities.

(c) Supplier represents and warrants that the Services shall not infringe the copymight.
patent, trademark or other intellectual property right of a third party.

T
b

Disclaimer of Warranties.

OTHER THAM THE WARRANTIES SET FORTH HEREIN AND IN THE
APPLICABLE ORDEF. FOE SERVICES, SUPPLIEE MAKES NO WARRANTY TO
CUSTOMEE. OB ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY, WHETHER EXPRESS,
IMPLIED, OFR STATUTORY, AS TO THE DESCRIPTION, QUALITY,
MERCHANTARILITY, COMPLETENESS OF. FITNESS FOR ANY PURPOSE OF
ANY SERVICE PROVIDED HEREUNDEE. OR THEREUNDEER OE DESCRIBED
HEREIN OR THEREIN, OR AS TO ANY OTHER MATTER, ALL OF WHICH
WARRANTIES BY SUPPLIER. ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED AND DISCLATMED.
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For purposes of this Section, the term “Supplier” shall be deemed to include Supplier, its
officers, agents and employees.

ARTICLE ITI
INDEMNIFICATION: LIMITATION OF LIARIL.TIES

3.1 Customer Indempification.

Customer shall imdemmnify and hold harmless Supplier and its officers, directors,
agents and employees, from and against any and all claims. demands, causes of action,
losses, damages, costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees (collectively referred to as
“Claims™) arising out of or in any manner relating to: (1) violation of any law, rule or
regulation by any governmental authority or other agency; (i) any claim for withholding
or other taxes that might arise or be imposed due to this Agreement or the performance
hereof: (ui) damage to property or persomal mjury (including death) ansing out of the
negligence or willful acts or omissions of Customer; (iv) breach of any representation,
warranty, or cbligation confained in this Agreement or amy Order for Services by
Customer; or (v) any act or omission of Customer and its officers, directors, agents,
employees or customers ansing under or m any way related to this Apreement or any
Order for Services.

3.2 Supplier Indemnification.

Supplier shall mdemmnify and heold harmless Customer and its officers, directors,
agents and employees, from and against any and all claims. demands, causes of action,
losses, damages, costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees (collectively refemred to as
“Claims™) arising out of or in any manner relating to: (i) violation of any law, rule or
regulation by any governmental authority or other agency; (ii) any claim for withholding
or other taxes that might arise or be imposed due to this Agreement or the performance
hereof: and (i} damage to property or personal injury (including death) ansing out of the
gross negligence or willful acts or omissions of Supplier.

3.3 Limitation of Liabilities.

Supplier’s sole liability ansing out of delays in restoration of the Services to he
provided under this Agreement or an Order for Services or out of mistakes, accidents,
omissions, intermaptions, o errors of defects in transmission in the provision of Services,
or arsing in any way out of this Agreement, shall be subject to the limitations set forth in
Articles IT and IIT of this Apgreement or the applicable Order for Services AND IN NO
EVENT SHALL SUPPLIER'S LIARILITY FOR. DAMAGES EXCEED THE
AMOUNT OF FEES AND CHARGES PAID BY CUSTOMER DURING THE THREE
(3) MONTHS IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING THE EVENT GIVING RISE TO SUCH
LIABILITY AND EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED HEREIN, IN NO EVENT
SHALL SUPPLIER BE LIABLE TO THE CUSTOMER OF ANY THIRD PARTY IN
ANY RESPECT FOER ANY INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, SPECIAL,
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INCIDENTIAL, ACTUAL, PUNITIVE, OF. ANY OTHER DAMAGES, OR FOR. ANY
LOST PROFITS OF ANY KEIND OF. NATURE WHATSOEVER, ARISNG OUT OF
MISTAKES ACCIDENTS, ERRORS, OMISSIONS, INTERRUPTIONS, OR DEFECTS
IN TRANSMISSION, OR DELAYS, ARISING OUT OF OR. RELATING TO THIS
AGREEMENT OFR THE OBLIGATIONS OF SUPPLIER PURSUANT TO THIS
AGREEMENT.

EXCEPT FOR THE INDEMNITY OBLIGATIONS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH
HEREIN OR IN ANY APPLICABLE ORDER FOR SERVICE, SUPPLIER’S
IIABILITY FOPR. ATL CIAIMS OF ANY EIND ARISING OUT OF OR. RETATED
TO THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER BASED ON CONTEACT, TORT (INCLUDING,
WITHOUT LIMITATION, STRICT LIABILITY AND NEGLIGENCE), WARBANTY
OF. ON OTHER. LEGAL OR. EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES SHALL EBE LIMITED TO
STRICT MONEY DAMAGES AND SHAII NOT EXCEED TWO (2) TIMES THE
AMOUNT PAID BY CUSTOMER TO SUPFLIER PURSUANT TO THE ORDEER. FOR
SERVICES UNDER WHICH THE LIABILITY ARISES.

ARTICLEIV
GENERAL PROVISIONS

4.1 Independent Contractor.

The Parties acknowledge and agree that the relationship between them is solely
that of independent contractors. Neither Party, nor their respective employees, agents or
representatives, has any right, power or authonty to act or create any obligation, express
or mplied, on behalf of the other Party.

4.2 Force Majeure.

Neither Party shall be liable for any failure of performance hereunder due to
causes beyond its reasomable comtrol, including but not limited to, acts of God, fire,
explosion, termomism, vandalism, storms or other similar catastrophes, natiomal
emergencies, insurrections, nots or wars. The Parties agree that Customer shall not be
required to pay any fees for Services not provided by Supplier due to and dunng the
continuation of a Force Majeure event.

4.03% aivers.

Failure of either Party to enforce or insist upon compliance with the provisions of
this Agreement or an Order for Services shall not be construed as a general waiver or
relinguishment of any provision or right under this Agreement or the Order for Services.

4.043urvival,

Page 9 of 22

59



The indemmifications, covenants and agreements of Customer contained m thas
Agreement and any Order for Services, including, but not limited to Customer’s
obligations to pay all amounts due, shall survive any termination of this Agreement or
termination of an Crder for Service. The mghts and obligations under this Agreement
shall survive any merger or sale of either Party and shall be binding upon the successors
and permitted assigns of each Party.

4.05Confidentiality,

{(a) Each Party agrees that all mformation furnished to it by the other Party, or to
which it has access under this Agreement, shall be deemed confidential and
proprietary information or ftrade secrets (collectively refemed to as
“Proprietary Information™) of the disclesing Party and shall remam the sole
and exclusive property of the disclosing Party. Each Party shall treat the
Pmpneta.r_l, Information and the contents of this Ag‘reement and any Order for
Services in a confidential manner and, except to the extent necessary in
connection with the performance of its oblizations under this Agreement or an
Order for Services, neither Party may directly or indirectly disclose the same
to anyone other than its employees and agent who have a need to know the
Proprietary Information.

() The confidentiality obligations of this Section do not apply to any portion of
the Propretary Informatiom: (i) which is or becomes public knowledge
through no fault of the receiving Party; (11} in the lawful possession of the
receiving Party prior to disclosure to it by the disclosing Party (as confirmed
by the receiving Party’s records); (iii) disclosed to the receiving Party without
restriction on disclosure by a person who has the lawful nght to disclose the
mformation; or (iv) disclosed pursuant to the lawful requi.rﬂnents or formal
request of a governmental agency. If the receiving Party is requested or
legally compelled by a governmental agency or court of competent jurisdiction
to disclose any Pmpnetar} Information of the disclosing Party with prompt
written notice of such requests and the receiving Party shall make a reasonable
effort to obtain a protective order requinng that the Confidential Information
so disclosed be used only for the purposes for which the order was issued
and narrowing as much as possible the scope of disclosure.

(c) Each Party acknowledges that its breach or threatened breach of this Section
shall cause the disclosing Party imreparable harm that would not be adequately
compensated by monetary damages. Accordingly, in the event of any such
breach or threatened breach, the receiving Party agrees that equitable relief,
incloding a temporary or permanent injunction, is an available remedy in
additien to any legal remedies to which the disclosing Party may be entitled.

(d) Neither Party may use the logo, trade name, service marks or pnnted
materials of the other Party, in any promotional or advertising materials,
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statement, document, press release or broadeast without the pnor wmtten
consent of the other Party, which consent may be granted or withheld at the
other Party’s sole discretion.

{e) Any obligations of the Parties relating to confidentiality shall survive
termination of this Agreement and any Order for Services for a three (3) year
period.

4.06Entire Agreement,

This Agreement and all Exhibats, Schedules and other attachments incorporated
herein, and any Order for Services between the Parties. represent the enfire agreement
between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and supersede
and merge all prior agreements, promises, understandings, statements, representations,
warranties, indemnities and inducements to the making of this Agreement or any Order
for Services relied upon by either Party, whether written or cral.

4.07Consiruction,

The language used in this Agreement is deemed the language chosen by the
Parties to express their mutmal intent. No rule of strict construction shall be applied
agamst either Party.

4.8 Governins Law,

This Agreement shall be govemed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws
of the State of Indiana. excluding its conflict of law provisions. The parties acknowledge
and agree that all disputes between them in connection with this Agreement shall be filed
in the state courts of Indiana.

49 Attorney Fees,

In the event suit is brought or an attomey is retained by Supplier to enforce the
terms of this Agreement or to collect any money as due hereunder or to collect any
money damages for breach hereof, Supplier shall be entitled to recover, in addition to any
other remedy, the reimbursement for reasonable attomeys™ faes, court costs. cost of
investigation and other related expenses incurred in connection therewith.

4.10Azsizmment,

The Customer shall not assign this Agreement without the prior written consent of
the Supplier, whose consent will not be unreasonably withheld.

4.11Notices.
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All nofices. including but not limited to, demands, regquests and other
communications required or permitted hereunder (not including Inweices) shall be in
writing and shall be deemed to be deliverad when actually received, whether upon personal
delivery or if sent by facsimile, or ovemight delivery and shall be deemed deliverad
three days after mailing if mailed by regular mail. All notices shall be addressed as follows,
of to such other address as each of the Parties may notify the other.

Supplier: Customer:

Metro Fibemet, LLC Customer Mame
Attn: President Attn: Contact Name
3701 Commnmications Way Customer Address
Evansville, IN 47715 Customer Address

4.12Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall
constitute an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument.

4.13Compliance with Laws,

(2) During the term of this Agreement the Parties shall comply with all local
state and federal laws and regulations applicable to this Agreement and to
their respective businesses, including state and federal anti-kickback laws, the
MedicareMedicaid Anti-Frand and Abuse Statutes, and restrictions om
Customer by virtue of its tax-exempt status and the federal law relating to
physician referrals. The enactment or modification of any applicable state or
federal statute or the promulgation of miles or regulation there under after
execution of this Agreement shall be reviewed by Customer and Supplier to
determine whether the provisions of this Apreement require formal
modification. Further, each Party shall obtain, file and mamtain any tariffs,
permuts, cerfifications, authorizations. licenses or similar documentation as
may be required by the Federal Communications Commission, a state Public
Utilities or Service Commission, or any other govemmental body or agency
having jurisdiction over its business, provided however, that Supplier shall
obtain, file and maintamn any tanffs, permuts. certifications, authonzations,
licenses or similar documentation as may be regquired by the Federal
Commumication Commission, a state Public Utilities or Service Commission,
or any other governmental body or agency for the Services under this
Agreement.

(b) Upon request. a Party will supply copies of such permits, certifications,
authonizations, licenses and similar documentation. Further, Supplier hereby

covenants and agrees to make a good faith effort to provide and maintain a
drug-free workplace. The Supplier will give written notice to Customer within
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ten (10} days after receiving actual notice that the Supplier or an employee of
the Supplier in the State of Indiana has been convicted of a criminal drug
viclation occurring in the workplace. False certification or violation of this
certification may result in sanctions mecluding, but not limited to, suspension
of Agreement payments. termination of this Agreement and/or debartment of
contracting opportunities with Customer for up to three (3) vears.

{(c) If at any time, as the result of the enactment of a new statute, the issuance of
regulations, or otherwise, either party receives a written opinion of counsel
that there is a substantial risk. as a result of this Agreement, either party does
not comply with applicable law or that Customer would be legally precluded
from billing a third party or governmental payor for services provided, then
the parties shall use good faith efforts to reform this Agreement in such a
manner so that it complies with applicable law or does not preclude Customer
from billing a third party or governmental payor, as applicable. If after the
exercise of such good faith efforts for a period of at least thirty (30) business
days, the parties have not agreed on amendment(s) to this Agreement that
resolve the legal issues referred to above, then the party(s) whose receipt of a
legal opimion triggered renegotiation may termunate this Agreement upen at
least sixty (60) calendar days written notice to the other party.

4.14Third Partv Beneficiaries.

The provisions of this Agreement and the rights and obligations created hereunder
are intended for the sole benefit of Supplier and Customer, and do not create any right,
claim or benefit on the part of any person not a Party to this Agreement, including end-
USETS.

415 Amendmenis,

Except as may otherwise be provided herein, any amendments or modifications to
this Agreement or to an Order for Services must be in wrniting and signed by an authonized
officer of Supplier and an autherized officer of Customer.

4.163everability,

The illegality of unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement or of an
Order for Services shall not affect the legality or enforceability of any other provision or
portion hereof or thereof If any provision or portion of this Agreement or of an Order
for Services 15 deemed illegal or unenforceable for any reason by a court of competent
junsdiction, there shall be deemed to be made such mininmum change in such provision or
portion as is necessary to make it valid and enforceable as so modified This Agreement
and any Order for Services is voidable by Supplier if modified by Customer without the

written or initialed consent of an authonzed officer of Supplier.

4.17Adequate Counse],
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By its signature below, each Party acknowledges and agrees that sufficient allowance
has been made for review of this Agreement by respective counsel and that each Party
has been advised as to its legal rights, duties and obligations under this Agresement.

4.15A¢ccess 1o Books and Becords, To the extent that Section 952 of the
Omnibus Beconciliation Act of 1980 (the “Act™0 and the regulations promulgated

thereunder are applicable to this Agreement, Supplier and the organizations related to it,
if any, performing any of the duties pursuant to this Agreement valued at Ten Thousand
Diollars (310,000} or more in any twelve (12)-month period shall, until four (4) years after
the furmshing of Services pursuant to this Agreement comply with requests by the
Comptroller General the Secretary of the Depariment of Health and Human Services,
and their duly authorized representatives for access (in accordance with Section 952 of
the Acf) to any contract or agreement between the Supplier and Customer for Services
and to any coniract or agreement between Supplier and such related orgamizations, as
well as the books, document and records of Supplier and its related orgamzations, if any,
which are necessary to venfy the cost of the Services provided. Supplier shall promptly
advise Customer of such request, and shall promptly provide to Customer copies of any
documents so provided. Neither party shall be deemed to have waived any attomey-client
of work-product privilege nor viclated the Confidentiality provisions of Section 4.03 by
virtue of this Section.

4.19Excluded Provider. Supplier represents and warrants that neither it, nor
any of its employees or other contracted staff (collectively referred to in this paragraph as
“employees™) has been or is about to be excluded from participation in any Federal
Health Care Program (as defined heremm). Supplier agrees to notify Customer within five
(5) business days of Supplier’s receipt of notice of intent to exclude or actual notice of
exclusion from any such program. The listing of Supplier or any of its employees on the
Office of Inspector General's exclusion list (OIG website), the General Services
Administration’s Lists of Parties Excluded from Federal Procurement and
Nonprocurement Programs (GSA website) for excluded mdividual or entities, any state
Medicaid exclusion list, or the Office of Foreign Assets Control’s (OFAC’s) blocked list
shall constitute “exclusion”™ for purposes of this paragraph In the event that Supplier or
any of its employees is excluded from any Federal Health Care Program or placed on the
OFAC’s blocked list, it shall be a material breach and this Agreement shall immediately
terminate without penalty to Customer, unless Customer elects in writing to continue this
Agreement. For the purpose of this paragraph, the term “Federal Health Care Program™
means the Medicare program, the Medicaid program. TRICARE. any health care
program of the Department of Veterans Affairs, the Matemal and Child Health Services
Block Grant program, any state social services block grant program, any state children’s
health insurance program, or any similar program.

4.20D4sconnts and/or Free Products Supplier shall assist Customer in
complying with the reporting requirements of 42 C.FR. §1001.952(h), regarding “safe

harbor™ protection for discounts under the Anti-kickback Statute. Supplier shall disclose
to Customer in this Agreement and on each inveice, or as otherwise agreed in wnting, the
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amount of any discount or rebate. The statement shall inform Customer. as appropriate, in
a clear and simple manner of the amount of any discount or rebate so as to enable
Customer to satisfy its obligations to report such discount or rebate to Medicare, USAC
and the FCC'’s Healthcare Connect Fund Frogram.

IN WITMESS WHEEREOQOE, the Parties by their authonized representative have executed
this Agreement on the date first above written.

Customer: Metro Fibemet, LLC
Keptn Stefeeach
By: By Keuin stoimach (Mar 22, 2015

Kevin Stelmach
Printed Name: Printed Name:

Executive Vice President and
General Manager

Title: Title:
= NED
By Anita Larson &f 1:05 pa, 22299
Attachments
Exhibit A: Services and Pricing
Exhibit B: Order for Services Processing Procedures
Exhibit C: Network Operations Requirements
Exhibit D: Emergency/Escalation Contact List
Exhibit E: Form of Colocation Agreement
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SERVICES & PRICING

Exhibit A

All services and rates for services are on an ICB (Individual Case Basis) and are
detailed in separate Orders for Services, which both parties shall agree to prior to service
commencement.
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Exhibit B

Order for Services Processing Procedures

1) ORDERFOR SERVICES:

ia)} Upon receipt of an Order for Services (“OFS") from the Customer, Supplier will
respond with any corrections or clarifications required to process the request
within forty-eight (48) hours from the receipt of the OFS.

ib) If requested by Customer, Supplier will provide a Firm Order Confirmation
(*FOC™) to the Customer within ten (10} days after receipt of a complete and
accurate OFS for services provided over Supplier’s network (“on-net™). If the
request is for off-net services, then Supplier will provide FOC information within
two (2) business days after receipt of the off-net provider's FOC. The FOC will
provide the order interval(s) and projected service starting date.

(c) If requested by Customer, Supplier will provide Design Layout Record (*DLE")
information within ten (10) business days after receipt of a complete and accurate
OFS for on-net services. If the request is for Off-net services, then Supplier will
provide DIF. information within two (2) busmess days after receipt of off-net
provider’s DLE.

(d) Customer shall have two (2) business days from Supplier’s written notification
that service is available to test and accept service. Billing will not commence
until the next business day after the earlier of the following: (1) Customer tests
and provides written notification that service is accepted; or (it) the two (2)
business day interval has passed without notification by Customer to Supplier of
non-acceptance.

(2} The following are estimated installation intervals in business days:

Type of Service: On-Net Off-Net
D51 15 days ICB
DS3 30 days ICB
OC-N ICE ICB
Ethemet Services ICE ICB

(f) If a shorter interval is required that is less than the interval identified above, then
the Customer can negotiate with Supplier for an expedited mstallation interval
An order expedite charge will be assessed as follows:
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Type of Service: Expedite Charge:
D51 $300
DS3 £1.000
OC-N ICB
Ethemet Services ICB

1) DELAY IN START DATE:

(a) Customer may request a delay in the service start date via written notification
provided that; (i) the request is made no later than two (2) business days prior to
the service activation date identified in the FOC; (ii) the aggregate number of
days requested by such delay request does not exceed sixty (60) calendar days;
and (i) the aggregate number of delay requests is three (3) or less per eircuit.
Each delay is subject to the following charges:

Type of Service: Due Date Change
Charge:

D51 £150

DS3 £200

OC-N £500

Ethemet Services ICB

(k) Customer is responsible for any third party charges Supplier incurs as a result of
Customer’s delay request for faciliies or change charges.
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Exhibit C
Network Operations Requirements

1) NETWORK OPERATIONS DEFINTTIONS:

2

(a) Outage. “Outage” shall be defined as a measure of the time that Customer loses a
signal or receives a signal so poor that 1t is unavailable.

(b) Class of Service. The “Class of Service™ categonies shall be defined as follows.

Class A Supplier Provided Fiber — dual entrance

Class B Supplier Provided Fiber — w/lateral or single entrance

Class C non- Supplier Provided Fiber facilities — w/lateral or single
entrance

(c) Chromc Trouble. Chromic Trouble exists when either: (1) three (3} or more
separate periods of service interruption occur within the same calendar month; or
(ii) service intermuption occurs in excess of two (2) hours in three (3) consecutive
months. In the event that Customer experiences Chronic Trouble, the Customer
shall be entitled, in addition to any applicable credits, to request re-provisioning
of the affected circmit. Such re-provisioming must be requested by Customer m
wnting.

(d) Planned Maintenance or Eepair. Planned Maintenance or Repair includes
network upgrades and repairs, equipment upgrades and repairs, power upgrades
and repairs.

(e) Emergency Maintenance or Bepair. Emergency Maintenance or Repair refers to
work which if not accomplished immediately by Supplier or Third Party
Provider. could result n a serious degradation or loss of Service to the Customer
or the End User. Emergency maintenance or repair includes network, equipment
and power facilities.

NETWORK STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE:

Supplier agrees to use reasonable efforts to provide Customer with unintermupted
Services for the duration of the Agreement Customer shall immediately notfy
Supplier of any problems or end-user complaints with the Services. The liability of
Supplier for damages for mistakes, omissions, mterruptions, delays, errors or defects
in fransmission (Failure of Performance™) occurmng in the fumishing of Services
hereunder, or ansing in any way out of this Agreement, shall be limited to not
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charging Customer for any Services which Supplier has failed to provide, or that were
the subject of the Failure of Performance. In the event of a Failure of Performance,
Supplier shall use its reasonable efforts to comect such failure as soon as reasonably
practicable after Supplier is notified of such falure. Facility and port performance
will be measured using three parameters: availability: latency: and packet loss:
Availability is a measure of the relative amount of time the service is available to the
Customer for use. The objective for all services is to provide performance at 99.999%
over a consecutive 30-day period. Latency is measured as time. Latency required for
a packet to travel round trip between Supplier POPs will average less than 73ms.
Packet loss 1s measured as the percentage of 64 byte packets lost after 100 trials during
a one-month period between Supplier POPs. Packet loss will be less than 0.3% for
traffic between Supplier POPs. Customer acknowledges that Supplier may need to
perform routine maintenance as well as Emergency Maintenance and Fepair as
defined above, which will not be considered for overall measurement of standards
of performance.

SERVICE INTERRUPTION:

(a) In the event of an interruption of service, Customer shall be entitled to a credit
determined according to the following table for each effected segment:

Length of Intermuption: Class A Class B Class C
Credit Amount: | Credit Amount: | Credit Amount:
2 - = 4 hours 10% of MEC 5% of MEC 1% of ME.C
4 - = § hours 25% of MEC 15% of MRC 5% of MRC
8 - = 12 hours 50% of MEC 25% of MRC 10% of ME.C
=12 hours 100% of MRC 50% of MRC 25% of MRC
= 24 hours 100% of MRC 100% of MRC 50% of ME.C
= 48 hours 100% of MRC 100%: of MRC 100% of MRC

The length of the mtermaption shall be measured in hours and fractional portions
thereof Each mnterruption shall be desmed to terminate upon restoration of the
affacted Services as evidenced by appropmate network test by Supplier, and
Supplier’s notification to Customer. To receive credit. Customer must make a
written request within forty-five (43) days of the end of the month for which the
mtermuiption occurred.

(b) Service interruption credits do not apply to outages: (1} caused by the negligence
or willful misconduect of the Customer; (11) due to failure of power (excluding any
industry standard back-up power sources that Supplier may have in place); (ii1)
during any peried in which Supplier is not given access to the Customer or
Customer's end-user’s premise if necessary to resolve an outage; (1v) during any
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period of scheduled maintenance, alteration or implementation; and (v) dunng
any period of Force Majeure.

4) SUPPLIER RESPONSE:
(@) Supplier shall maintain a twenty-four (24} hours a day, seven (7) days a week

point-of-contact for Customer to report to Supplier system troubles. Supplier
NOC contact information 1s 833.266.5813.

() Supplier shall provide am explicily named list including direct contact
mformation, of operations management contacts for purposes of trouble resolution
escalations.

Prnmary contact: Repair Center, Number: 833 383 6857
Escalation lewvel 1: Sean Melvin, Mumber: 812.213.1385, Sean Melvin/@metronetine com
Escalation lewel?: Brian Fickey, MNumber: 812.213.1332, bnan nickeyi@metronetine. com

Escalation leveld: Tom Luther, Mumber: $12.213.1731, Tom Luther(@metronetine. com

(c) Supplier shall perform all trouble maintenance and repair functions on its system
and facilities from the endwuser's premise to the demarcation point at the
Customer facilities twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week.

(d) In the event of a service intermiption, Supplier will use commercially reasonable
efforts to have repair personnel on-site within four (4) hours from either the point
at which Service Provider notices the service impairment or after receiving such
notification from Customer, whichever comes first.

5) PLANNED MAINTENANCE OR REPATR:

ia) Mantenance Window. Planned maintenance 15 performed during a maintenance
window of 10:00 PM to 6:00 AM (Eastern Time).

(b) MNotification. Supplier will provide Customer with written notice of the planned
activity by means of electronic mail notification to
no less than ten (10} days prior to starting work. Customer agrees to acknowledge
receipt of the wrtten notification within two (2) business days of receipt
confirming that Customer 1s aware of the planned work and has taken necessary
steps to notify key personnel intemnally of when work will begin. If no response is
given by Customer, acknowledgement will be deemed given
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6) EMERGENCY MAINTENANCE OR REPAIR:

Where prior notice is not practical in the circumstances, Supplier reserves the right to
perform required emergency maintenance of repairs. 'Whenever prier notice is given,
Customer agrees to acknowledge notice of the emergency event in a reasonable period of
time and in all events Customer will take necessary steps to notify key personnel
imtermnally in order for Supplier to have access to correct or repair the affected area.
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Exhibit D
Emergency/Escalation Contact List

If vou experience a network outage or service interruption at anyv time please call
the Supplier Operations Center (NOC) at 833.166.5812

. _______ ]
Time Expectation for a return call 30 Minutes or less
Time Expectation for equipment 4 Hours or less
restoration

Time Expectation for Fiber restoration 12 Hours or less

If at any time vou feel that you have not received a satisfactory response to vour
issue, please feel free to proceed to the next level on the escalation list.

1
2 See Section 4 of Exhibit C
3

If during normal business hours you have a question or concern that is not service
affecting please call the main business number §877-407-3224,
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Exhihit E
Form of Colocation Agreement

Customer will allow (or will cause to be allowed) Supplier the right to access, occupy, use and
maintain suitable space, power, and back-up power source inside each Customer premise, as
applicable, to the extent reasonably determined by Supplier to be needed to provide the
Service(s) (the "Space"). Customer shall provide (or cause to be provided) heat, ventilation
and air conditioning ("HVAC™) to the Space sufficient to maintain an acceptable ambient
temperature and acceptable level of relative non-condensing humidity. Customer shall
provide [or cause to be provided) Supplier and its affiliates access to such Space upon
reascnable notice from Supplier; such access will include the rights of ingress and egress for
Supplier's personnel and facilities to access such Space, and any necessary easement and
building entrances rights to extend Supplier's network from the public rights of way into the
Space. If requirements or rights with respect to a specific Service differ from the above-
described requirements, such requirements and rights shall be specified in the applicable
Order for Services or other written document. Mo fees or charges shall be imposed on Supplier
in connection with, or related to, the rights granted to Supplier in this Exhibit E. Customer
agrees that its failure to provide [or cause to be provided) the space, access and services
described in this Exhibit E may adwversely impact the Service(s), and Supplier shall not be
respansible for any such adverse impact. Customer agrees not to open, alter, misuse, tamper
with or remove the software and equipment reguired to operate the Service. Customer will
not remove any markings or labels or serial numbers from the equipment. If the equipment
is damaged, destroyed, lost or stolen while in Customer's possession, Customer shall be liable
for the cost of repair or replacement of such equipment including costs of labor. Customer
will safeguard the eqguipment from loss or damage of any kind, and will not permit anyone
other than an authorized representative of Supplier to perform any work on the equipment.

Title to Supplier's equipment located in or at the Space shall remain with Supplier and its
successors and assigns, as applicable. From time to time and upon notice at a mutually agreed
upon time, Supplier may remove, or cause to be removed, from the Space, any or all of
Supplier's equipment. After expiration or termination of the Service(s) offered by Supplier
from or using the Space, Supplier shall remove, or cause to be removed, from the Space, any
and all of Supplier's equipment. Such equipment shall be in the same condition as it was
originally delivered, normal wear and tear excepted. If Customer fails to allow (or cause to be
allowed) Supplier to enter the premises to recover any Supplier provided equipment within
thirty (30) days of the termination of applicable Services, Customer shall be liable to Supplier
for the replacement cost thereof, which costs shall be paid by Customer within thirty (30) days
of invoice from Supplier. Customer hereby acknowledges and agrees that only Supplier
authorized personnel shall be allowed to access the Supplier entrance facilities and Supplier
equipment.

Supplier and its employees, agents, and invitees shall abide by and observe all reasonable
rules and regulations as may be promulgated by Customer or end user for the maintenance
and use of the Space.
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APPENDIX E

Metro Fibernet, LLC Operating Agreement
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OPERATING AGREEMENT

for

METRO FIBERNET, LLC

THIS OPERATING AGREEMENT of METRO FIBERNET, LLC (the "Agreement") is

made and entered into effective February 7, 2011, {the “Effective Date™) by and among Albert E.
Cinelli and John P. Cinelli and any other Members who are subsequently listed on Schedule 1 to
this Agreement and as reflected in the Company's Records,

SECTION 1

DEFINITIONS
1.1 “Aer" shall mean the Nevada Limited Liability Company Act, as Amended.
1.2 “dgreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph.

1.3 "Bowd of Mungers” shall mean collectively those individuals named as Mangers of the
Company pursuant to Section 6 of the Agrecment,

14 “Code"” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or corresponding
provisions of subsequent superseding federal revenue laws,

1.5 “Comparry ™ shall mean Metro FiberMet, LLC

1.6 “Dgmand " shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.4.

1.7 “Digpate ™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.4,

1.8 “Effective Dave™ shall mean February 7, 2011,

19 “Flseal Vear™ shall mean the Company’s fiscal year. The Company’s fiscal year shall be
Jamuary 1 through December 31 unless a different taxable vear is required by Section 706
of the Code, in which event the Company's fiscal year shall be the taxable year required
by Section 706 of the Code

10 “nitial Contribution Amownt” shall mean the sum of $9,720,000
111 “Manger" shall refer to any individual named to the Board of Mangers

112 “Mufority in Inferest” shall mean the vote of the Members holding at least a majority of the
Membership Interests issued and outstanding as of the date of such action.

113 “Member” shall mean each Person who is listed in Schedule 1 to this Agreement, as such
schedule may amended from time to time.
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114 “Membership Intevest” shall mean a Member's entire interest in the Company inchiding
such Member's Economic Rights in the Company and in the voting rights in the Company. Each
Membet's Membership Interests shall be set forth on Schedule 1 to this Agreement.

115 “Membership Unif™ means a quemBitative measuremnent of 8 Membership Interest,
16 “Original Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals.
117 "Person" shall mean a natural person, gencral partnership, domestic or foreign limited

partnership, domestic or foreign limited liability company, domestic or foreign corporation, trust, estate,
association or other business entity.

118 “Tox Matters Member” shall mean, to the extent required, the tax matters partner as
deseribed in Internal Revenue Code Section 6231(a)(7) shall be a Member.

119 “Tox Percentage” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.3.

SECTION 2

THE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

21 Formarion. Effective February 7, 2011, a limited liability company under the name of
MetroMet-General, LLC  (n'k/a Metro FiberNet, LLC) was formed on the terms and conditions set
forth in this Agreement and pursuant to the Act. The appropriate documentation required for the
formation of the Company was [iled with the agency within the State of Nevada charged with
processing and maintaining such records. The rights and obligations of the parties are as provided
in the Act except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement.

2.2 Name. The business of the Company will be conducted under the name Metro FiberNet,
LLC, or such other name upon which the Members may agree.

23 Purpose. The purpose of the Company is to engage in any lawful act or activity for
which a limited liability company may be formed within the State of MNevada.

24 Office. The Company will maintain its principal business office at the following address:
3701 Communications Way, Evansville, IN 47715,

25  Registered Agent. National Registered Agents of NV is the Company's initial registered
agent in the State of Nevada, and the registered office is 1000 East William Street, Suite 204
Carson City, Nevada 89701,

26  Term. The term of the Company commences on February 7, 2011 and shall continue
perpetually unless sooner terminated as provided in this Agreement.

27 Names and Addresses of Members. The Members' names and addresses are attached as
Schedule 1 to this Agreement.
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29 No Liability of Members. No Member shall have personal lability for the obligations or
liabilities of the Company.

210 Tide to Property. All real and personal property owned by the Company shall be owned
by the Company as an entity and no Member shall have any ownership interest in such property in
his individual name or right, and each Member's interest in the Company shall be personal property
for all purposes,

SECTION 3
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS; ISSUANCE OF MEMBERSHIP UNITS

3.1 Tnitial Contribution. On the Effective Date, the Members shall contribute the Initial
Contribution Amount to the Company. Each Member shall contribute to the Initial
Contribution Amount on a pro rata basis in accordance with their Membership Interest.

3.2 Additional Contributions. No Member shall be obligated to make any additional
contribution to the Company's capital without the prior unanimous written consent of the
Members. Each Member, however, shall have the right to participate in any additional capital
contribution on a pro rata basis in accordance with their Membership Interest.

33 NoInterest on Capital Contributions. Members are not entitled to interest or other
compensation on their capital contributions to the Company.

34 Issuance of Membership Units. There are hereby authorized thirty million (30,000,000)
Membership Units. Those Membership Units that are issued at any point in time shall be set forth in
Schedule I which schedule will be updated every time new Membership Units are issued.

35 Issuance of Additional Membership Units. The Board of Managers shall have the ability to
authorize and issue additional Membership Units on such terms and conditions as the Board of
Managers shall determine,

SECTION 4

PROFITS AND LOSSES; DISTRIBUTIONS

4.1 Profits and Losses. If the Company is taxed as a partnership for federal income tax
purposes, the taxable income and tax losses shall be allocated among Members pro rata in
accordance with their Membership Interest,

42 Distributions. Unless otherwise determined by the Board of Managers, the Company shall
retain all net cash flow, except as set forth in Section 4.3, below. Distributions of net cash flow or
other property, if any, shall be made among the Members pro rata in accordance with their
hembership Interest.

4.3 Subject to applicable law and any limitations contained elsewhere in this Agreement and

3
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provided that the Company is being taxed as a partnership, the Manager shall distribute cash to
the Members in an amount equal to the product of (i) the Tax Percentage and (ii) the Company's
taxable income for such Fiscal Year determined in accordance with Section 703(a) of the Code
as reflected on the Schedule K-1 in respect of each Membership Interest. For purposes hereof,
"Tax Percentage" shall mean initially forty percent (40%) and shall be adjusted from time to
time hy the Manager in response to changes in the tax rates applicable to corporations under the
Code and under the state income tax laws of the State of Nevada and in response to any other
factors which cause the distributions under this Section 4.3 to be less than a Member's tax
liability in respect of each Membership Interest,

4.4 No Right to Demand Return of Capital. No Member has any right to any return of capital
or other distribution except as expressly provided in this Agreement. No Member has any
drawing account in the Company.

SECTION 5

INDEMNIFICATION

3.1 Indemnification. Except to the extent that any act or omission involves: (i) intentional
misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of the law or (ii) the payment of distributions in
violation of applicable state law, the Company shall indemnify, to the fullest extent permitied by
applicable law, any Person who is serving or who has served at any time as an officer, manager,
director or employed lawyer of the Company and/or of any of the Company's direct or indirect
subsidiaries or affiliates against all liability and expense (including, but not limited to, attorneys' fees
and seftlement costs) incurred by reason of the fact that he or she is or was an officer, manager,
director or employed lawyer of the Company and/or of any of the Company's direct or indirect
subsidiaries or affiliates or by reason of any action alleged to have been taken or omitted in such
capacity or by any action that was in fact taken or omitted in such capacity. Expenses (including
attorneys' fees) incurred by such Person in defending such an action, suit or proceeding shall be
paid by the Company as incurred and when due,

The right to indemnification conferred upon any Person by this Section 5 shall be a
contract right and shall be deemed to be effective to the same extent and as if provided for in a
contract between the Company and such Person,

The Company shall purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any Person who is or was
an officer, director, manager or employed attorney of the Company and/or of any of the Company's
direct or indirect subsidiaries or affiliates against any liahility asserted apainst and incurred by such
Person in any such capacity or arising out of such Person's position, whether or not the Company
would have the power to indemnify against such liability under the provisions of this Section 5.

The indemnification provided by this Section 5 shall not be deemed exclusive of any other
rights to which those indemnified may be entitled under this Operating Agreement, the Company's
Articles of Organization or any agreement, statute or otherwise and shall inure to the benefit of their
heirs, executors and administtators.

The provisions of this Section 5 shall not be deemed to preclude the Company from
indemnifying other Persons from similar or other expenses and liabilities as the Members may

4
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determine in a specific instance or by resolution of general application

In making a determination with respect to entitlement to indemnification, the Person or
Persons or entity making such determination shall presume that such Person is entitled to
indemnification under this Section 5 and the Company shall have the burden of proof to
overcome thal presumption in connection with the making by any Person of any determination
contrary to that presumption.

The termination of any proceeding or of any claim, issue or matter therein, by judgment,
order, settlement or conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not
(excepl as olherwise expressly provided in this Agreement or in the Company's Articles of
Organization) of itself adversely affect the right of any Person to indemnification or ereate a
presumpiion that such Person did not act in good faith and in a manner which he reasonably
believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company or, with respect to any
criminal proceeding, that such Person had reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was
unlawfirl.

Meither the amendment nor the repeal of this Section 5, nor the adoption of any provision of
this Agreement or in the Company's Articles of Organization or of any statue inconsistent with this
Section 3, shall eliminate or reduce the effect of this Section 5, in respect of any acts or
omissions oceurring prior to such amendment. repeal or adoption of an inconsistent provision,

The rights conferred on any Person in this Section 5 shall continue as to a Person who has
ceased to be an officer, manager, director or employed lawyer and shall inure to the benefit of the
heirs, executors and administrators of such Person,

If this Section 5 or any portion hereof shall be invalidated on any ground by any court of
competent jurisdiction, then the Company shall nevertheless indemnify each Person intended to be
covered by this Section 5 to the full extent not prohibited by any applicable portion of this Section 5
that shall not have been invalidated, or by any other applicable law,

SECTION 6
MEMBERS; VOTING RIGHTS

6.1 Voting Rights of Members, Fxcept as expressly provided in this Agreement or in the Articles of
Organization or otherwise required by law, Members shall have no voting, approval, or consent rights.
Whenever in this Agreement reference is made to the decision, consent, approval, judgment, or
action of the Members, unless otherwise expressly Iigmvidad in this Agreement, such decision,
consent, approval, judgment, or action shall be by a vote of Majority in Interest,

62  Majority Fote Requived. The following matters shall require the affirmative vote of the
IMembers at a properly called meeting of the Members:

(a) The reorganization or merger of the Company or the sale, exchange, pledge or
other transfer of all or a substantial part of the assets of the Company other than in the ordinary
course of business;
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(b) A fundamental change in the nature of the Company’s business;
() Any amendment of this Agreement or the Articles of Organization;
(d)  Dissolution of the Company;

(e} The transfer of a Member’s Interest and admission of the transferee as a
Substitute Member of the Company;

iy Election and removal of a Manger;

{g)  Admission of a new Member other than pursnant to a transfer of an existing

Member's Interest;
(h) Any changes in the limitations on the authority of the Board of Manpers;

6.3 Dare, Time, and Place of Meetings; Secretary. Meetings of the Members may be held at
any place, selected by the Board of Mangers or a Member or Members calling the meeting. Mo
annual or regular meetings of Members are required. At any Members® meeting, the Chairman
of the Board of Manpgers shall preside over the meeting and shall appoint a person to act as
secretary. The secretary shall prepare minutes of the meeting and shall place them in the minute
book of the Company.

6.4  Power fo Call Meetings. Unless otherwise prescribed by the Act, any Member may call a
meeting of the Members. Meetings may be called for the purpose of addressing any matters
upon which the Members may vote.

6.5  Notice. Whenever Members are required or permitted to take any action at a meeting, a
written notice of the meeting shall be given not less than five (3) days, nor more than sixty (60}
days, before the day of the meeting to each Member entitled to vote at the meeting. The notice
shall state the place, date and hour of the meeting and the general nature of the business to be
transacted. Mo other business may be transacted at this meeting,

6.6  Quorwm. Members holding a majority of the Membership Interests in person or by
proxy, shall constitute a quorum at a meeting of Members.

6.7  Adjournment. When a meeting of the Members is adjourned to another place or time,
notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting if the time and place thereof are announced at
the meeting at which the adjournment is taken. At the adjourned meeting, the Company may
transact any business that may have been transacted at the original meeting. If the adjournment
is for more than forty-five (45) days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the
adjourned meeting, notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each Member of record
entitled to vote at the meeting,

6.8  Wafver of Notice. Actions taken at any meeting of Members, however called and
noticed, and wherever held, have the same validity as if taken at a meeting duly held afler regular

¥

82



call and notice, iff a quorum is present either in person or by proxy, and if, either before or after
the meeting, each of the Members entitled to vote, not present in person or by proxy, signs a
written waiver of notice or consents to the holding of the meeting or approves the minutes of the
meeting, All waivers, consents, and approval shall be filed with the Company records or made a
part of the minutes of the meeting. Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver
of notice of the meeting, excepl when the person objects at the beginning of the meeting to the
transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Attendance
at a meeting is not a waiver of any right or objection to the consideration of the matters required
by this Article to be included in the notice, but not so included, if the objection is expressly made
al the meeting, -

6.9 Telephonic Conference. Members may participate in a meeting of the Members through
the use of conference telephones or similar communications equipment, as long as all Members
participating in the meeting can hear one another. Parlicipating in a meefing pursuant to this
provision constitules presence in person at that meeting,

610 Action by Written Consent Withouwt Meefing, Any action that may be taken at any
meeting of the Members may be taken without a meeting, if a consent in writing, setting forth the
action so taken, is signed and delivered to the Company within sixty (60) days of the record date
for that action by Members having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be
necessary to authorize or take that action at a meeting at which all Members entitled to vote
thereon were present and voted. All such consents shall be filed with the Company and kept in
the minute book of the Company, Unless the consents of all Members entitled to vote have been
solicited in writing, notice of any Member approval of an amendment to the Articles of
Organization or this Agreement, a dissolution of the Company, or a merger of the Company,
without a meeting, by less than unanimous written consent, shall be given at least ten days before
the consummation of the action authorized by such approval; and prompt notice shall be given of
the taking of any other action approved by the Members without a meeting by less than
unanimous writien consent, to those Members entitled to vote who have not consented in writing.
Any Member giving a written consent, or the Member's proxy holder, may revoke the consent
by a writing received by a Manager prior to the time the written consents of the Members having
the minimum number of votes that would be required to authorize the proposed action have been
filed with the Company, but may not do so thereafter. This revocation is effective upon its
receipt by the Manager at the principal executive office of the Company.

6.11  Proxies. Every Member entitled to vote on any matter shall have the right to do so either
in person or by one or more agent authorized by a written proxy signed by the person and filed
with the Secretary of the Company. A proxy may be transmitted by an oral telephonic
transmission if it is submitted with information from which it may be determined the proxy was
authorized by the Member or the Member’s attorney-in-fact. A wvalidly executed proxy which
does not state that it is irrevocable shall continue in full force and effect unless (i) it is revoked
by the person executing it, before the vote pursuant to that proxy, by a writing delivered to the
Seeretary of the Company stating that the proxy is revoked, or by a subsequent proxy executed
by or attendance at the meeting and voting in person by the person executing the proxy; or (ii)
written notice of the death or incapacity of the maker of that proxy is received by the Company
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before the vote pursuant to that proxy is counted; provided, however, that no proxy shall be valid
after the expiration of eleven months from the date of the proxy, unless provided in the proxy.
The revocability of a proxy that states on ils face that it is irevocable shall be governed by the
Act,

6.12  Record Dare. In order that the Company may determine the Members of record entitled
to notices of any meeting or to vote, or entitled to receive any distribution or to exercise any
rights in respect of any other lawful action, the Secretary of the Company may fix, in advance, a
record date that is not more than sixty (60) days or less than ten (10) days prior to the day of the
meeting and not more than sixty (60) days prior to any other action. If no record date is fixed,
the record date shall be established in the manner set forth in the Act,

SECTION 7
MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY

7.1 Generally. Except as specifically set forth in this Agreement, the Members herchy
delegate all power and authority to manage the business and affairs of the Company to a Board
of Managers, who shall manage the Company subject to and in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement (including, without limitation, Section 7.9).  All actions adopted by the Board of
Mangers shall be by a Majority in Interest. The Board of Managers shall have the powers
substantially similar to that of a board of directors of a corporation.

1.2 Number of Managers. The number of Managers of the Company shall be three (3). The
exact number of Mangers may be fixed, increased or decreased by a vote of the Members

holding a Majority in Interest,
7.3 Tenure, Election and OQualifications.

(a) The Managers shall be Albert E. Cinelli, John P. Cinelli, and Lohn Weber, Each
Manager shall serve until the earlier of (i) the election of such Managet’s successor by Members
holding a Majority in Interest, {ii) the removal of such Manager in accordance with the terms of
this Apreement, (iii) such Manager's resignation and (iv) such Manager's deaih.

(b} At the time of his appointment and at all times during his service as a Manager, a
Manager need not be a Member,

74 Resipnation. A Manager may resign at any time by giving written notice to the
Members. The resignation of a Manager shall take effect upon receipt of notice thereof or at
such later time as shall be specified in such notice; unless otherwise specified therein, the
aceeptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

7.5 Removal Upon the affirmative vote of the Members holding a Majority in Interest, a
Manager may be removed with or without cause,
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7.6 Facancies. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Managers shall be filled by the
affirmative vote of a Majority in Interest of the Members.

1.7 Meetings.

(a) Board of Managers meetings shall be held at the Company®s principal place of
business, or in such other places as the Managers who desite to aftend such meeting may
collectively determine. The location of any Manager meetings shall be designated in the notice
of the meeting.

(k) Any Board of Manapers meeting, whether or not a quorum is present, may be
adjoumed to another time and place by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Managers
present.  If the meeting is adjourned for more than twenty-four (24) hours, notice of such
adjournment to another time or place shall be given prior to the time of the adjourned meeting to
the Managers who were not present al the time of the adjournment.

() Any action required or permitted to be taken by the Managers may be taken
without a meeting of the Managers, if all of the Managers consent in writing to such action.
Such written consent or consents shall be filed with the Secretary of the Company. Such action
by written consent shall have the same foree and effect as a unanimous vote of the Managers.

7.8 Salaries. The Managers shall receive no salary or other compensation from the Company
for their services as Managers; provided, however, the foregoing shall not prevent any employee
of or consultant to the Company from receiving salary or other compensation from the Company
with respect to his services as an employee or consultant,

7.9 Powers of the Board of Mangers., Without limiting the generality of Section 7.1, and
subject to any limitation set forth in this Agreement, the Board of Managers shall have power
and authority via written resolution or meeting, to authorize an officer of the Company to

undertake the following:

{a)  To acquire property from any Person as the Board of Managers may determine in
aceordance with the terms of this Agreement;

(b)  To purchase liability and other insurance to protect the Company's property and
business of a type and in an amount customarily maintained by companies in a similar business
to that of the Company.

{¢)  To hold and own any Company real and/or personal properties in the name of the
Company;

{(d)  To invest any Company funds temporarily in time deposits, short-term
governmental obligations, commercial paper or other similar low-risk investments;
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{e) Subject to the approval of Members holding a Majority in Interest, the sale of the
Company;

() To execute on behall of the Company all instruments and documents necessary, in
the opinion of the Board of Managers, o the business of the Company in accordance with the
terms of this Agreement;

(g}  Toopen bank accounts from time to time in the name ol the Company,

(h)  To employ accountants, legal counsel, or other experts to perform services for the
Company and to compensate them from Company funds;

(i) To enter into any and all other agreements on behalf of the Company, with any
other Person for any purpose, in such forms as the Board of Managers may approve in
accordance with the terms of this Operating Agreement;

(i) To establish and enforce limits of controls with respect to all personnel and
functions and to appoint all officers of the Company,

(k}  To develop or cause to be developed accounting procedures for the authority and
internal maintenance of the Company's books of account; and

)] To do and perform all other acts as may be neccessary or appropriate to the
conduct of the Company's business.

(i) To authorize any increase in the capital of the Company.

7.10  Management, The Board of Managers shall appoint officers to manage the day-to-day
operations of the Company. The initial officers shall be as designated in Section & below and
shall have the respective duties set forth in Section 8 below. Additionally, the Board of Mangers
shall also appoint an executive committee to review the operations of the Company. The Board
of Managers may adopt such rules and regulations for the management of the Company not
incongsistent with this Agreement or the Act.

ARTICLE 8
OFFICERS; EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

8.1 Appointment of Officers. The Board of Managers shall appoint officers of the Company
which may inelude, but shall not be limited to: (a) Chairman; (b) President; (¢) Vice President;
(d) Secretary; and (e) Treasurer or Chief Financial Officer. The Board of Managers may
delegate their day-to-day management responsibilities to any such officers, and such officers
shall have the authority to contract for, negotiate on behalf of and otherwise represent the
interests of the Company as authorized by the Board of Managers pursuant to this Agreement in
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any job description created by the Board of Managers. At the time of their appointment and at
all times during their service as an officer of the Company, each officer must be a either a
Member, Manager, or employee of the Company, In the event an officer shall cease to be a
Member, Manager or employee of the Company, such officer shall be deemed to have resigned
as an officer effective upon such cessation date,

82 Tenure and Duties of Officers. All officers shall hold office at the pleasure of the Board
of Managers and until their successors shall have been duly elected and qualified, unless sooner
removed. Any officer may be removed at any time by the Board of Managers, with or without
cause. If the office of any officer becomes vacant for any reason, the vacancy may be filled by
the Board of Managers.

B.2.1  Chairman. The Chairman shall preside at all meetings of the Members, unless the
Board of Managers shall have appointed another person and shall also perform such other duties
commonly ineident to a Chairman of a Nevada corporation and shall also perform such other
duties and have such other powers as the Board of Managers shall designate from time to time.

822 President. The President shall have general supervision, direction and control of
the business and officers of the Company. The President shall perform other duties commonly
incident to a president of a Nevada corporation and shall also perform such other duties and have
such other powers as the Board of Managers shall designate from time to time.

8.2.3  Duties of Vice Presidents. The officers holding positions designated by the Roard
of Managers as vice presidents, in the order of their seniorily, may assume and perform the
duties of the President in the absence or disability of the President or whenever the position of
President is not filed. The Vice Presidents shall perform other duties commonly incident to a
vice president of a Nevada corporation and shall also perform such other duties and have such
other powers as the Board of Managers shall designate from time to time,

8.24 Duties of Secretary. The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board of
Managers and meetings of Members, and shall record all acts and proceedings thereof in the
minute book of the Company. The Secretary shall give notice in conformity with this Apreement
of all meetings of the Members and/or meeting of the Board of Managers requiring notice. The
Secretary shall perform all other duties given him or her in this Agreement and other duties
commonly incident to a secretary of a Nevada corporation and shall also perform such other
duties and have such other powers as the Board of Managers shall designate from, time to time,
The Chairman may direct any Assistant Secretary to assume and perform the duties of the
Secretary in the absence or disability of the Secretary, and each Assistant Secretary shall perform
other duties commonly incident to the office of assistant secretary in a Nevada corporation and
shall also perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board of Managers or the
Chairman shall designate from time to time,

8.2.5  Dwiies of Chief Financial Officer ov Treasurer, The Chief Financial Officer or
Treasurer shall keep or cause to be kept the books of account of the Company in a thorough and
proper manner, and shall render statements of the linancial affairs of the Company in such fiorm
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and as often as required by this Agreement, the Board of Managers or the President. The Chief
Financial Officer or Treasurer, subject to the order of the Board of Managers, shall have the
custody of all funds and securities of the Company. The Chief Financial Officer or Treasurer
shall perform other duties commonly incident to the office of Chief Financial Officer or
Treasurer in a Nevada corporation and shall also perform such other duties and have such other
powers as the Board of Managers or the President shall designate from time to time. In addition
1o those duties, the Chief Financial Officer shall have the same signature authority provided to
the President by the Board of Managers. The President may direct any Assistant Treasurer to
assume and perform the duties of the Chief Financial Officer or Treasurer in the absence or
disability of the Chief Financial Officer or Treasurer, and each Assistant Treasurer shall perform
other duties commonly incident to the office the Chiel Financial Officer or Treasurer of a
Nevada corporation and shall alse perform such other duties and have such other powers as a
Board of Managers or the President shall designate from time to time.

8.2.6  Authority to Bind the Company, MNotwithstanding anything to the contrary in this
Agreement, unless expressly authorized by the Board of Managers, the only officers that have
general authority to execute agreements on behalf of the Company or otherwise bind the
Company are the Chairman, President and Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Financial Officer
may expressly delegate their signature authority for purposes of executing Company checks or
other financial documents to the Controller. The Viece President of Tax shall have limited
authority to sign returns and other tax documents on behalf of the Company. The Secretary shall
have limited authority to sign any documents related to the records and organization of the
Company including, but not limited to, meeting minutes, and Secretary of State filings.

8.2.7  Iitial Officers of the Company. The initial officers of the Company shall be:

Chairman — Albert E. Cinelli

President — John P, Cinelhi
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer — Lohn H, Weber
Vice President and General Manager— Kevin Stelmach

Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary — John Campbell
Vice President and Controller — Sherri VanFossen

Vice President of Tax — Ed Corr

8.3  Executive Committee. The Board of Managers may appoint an executive committee
comprised of officers and/or Members to authorize the day-to-day operations of the Company.
This executive committee shall have the same ability as the Board of Managers to approve
transactions and authorize the officers of the Company to execute documents codifying those
transactions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, those transactions or approvals, which by their very
nature would change the nature of the operations of the Company would require approval of the
Board of Managers,

831 Management Commrittce.  The executive commitiee appointed by the Board of
Managers shall be known as the “Management Committec™.
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8.3.2  Dufies. The purpose of the Management Committes shall be to meet periodically
to review the financial and operational performance of the Company and otherwise direct the
day-to-day operations of the officers of the Company. The Office of the President shall have the
authority to make any decision or to take any action delegated to the officers of the Company by
the Board of Managers and to perform other duties and have such powers as the Board of
Managers shall designate from time-to-time. The Secretary of the Company shall record the acts
and proceedings of the Management Committee,

8.3.3 Temure and Duration. The Board of Managers may appoint any officer or
Member of the Company to serve on the Management Committee. All appointees shall serve at
the pleasure of the Board of Managers until their successors shall have been duly elected and
qualified, unless sooner removed. Any appointec to the Management Committee may be
removed at any time by the Board of Managers, with or without cause. The Board of Managers
may dissolve the Management Committee at any time with or without cause.

8.3.4  Initial Appoimtees. The initial appointees o the Management Committee shall be;
Albert E. Cinelli, John P. Cinelli, Lohn Weber, Kevin Stelmach, John Campbell, Steve
Biggerstaff and Sherri VanFossen.

835 dctions by Management Commiltee.  Actions approved by a majority of then
current voting members of the Management Committee shall be deemed resolutions of the

Management Committee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any resolution may be rescinded by
vote of the Members holding a Majority in Interest.

SECTION 9
SALARIES, REIMBURSEMENT, AND PAYMENT OF EXPENSES

9.1 Organization Expenses. All expenses incurred in connection with organization of the
Company will be paid by the Company.

9.2 Salary. No salary will be paid to 2 Member for the performance of his or her duties
under this Agreement unless the salary has been approved in writing by a Majority of the
Members,

9.3 Legal and Accounting Services. The Company may obtain legal and accounting services
to the extent reasonably necessary for the conduct of the Company's business.

SECTION 10

BOOKS OF ACCOUNT, ACCOUNTING REPORTS, TAX RETURNS,
FISCAL YEAR, BANKING

10,1 Method af Accounting. The Company will use the method of accounting previously
determined by the Members for financial reporting and tax purposes.
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102 Fiseal Year; Taxable Year. The fiscal year and the taxable year of the Company shall
end on December 315t of each calendar vear,

10,3 Capital Accounis. If the Company is taxed as a partmership for federal income tax
purposes, the Company will maintain a Capital Account for each Member on a cumulative basis in

accordance with federal income tax accounting principles,

104 Banking, All funds of the Company will be deposited in a separate bank account or in an

account or accounts of a savings and loan association in the name of the Company as determined by
a Majority in Interest of the Members, Company funds will be invested or deposited with an
institution, the accounts or deposits of which are insured or guaranteed by an agency of the

United States govemment.

10,5 Tox Marters Member. The initial Tax Matters Member shall be John P. Cinelli who shall
serve in such capacity until its replacement is appointed,

SECTION 11
MSSOLUTION AND WINDING UP OF THE COMPANY

1.1 Dissolution. The Company will be dissolved on the happening of any of the following
events:

{a) Sale, transfer, or other disposition of all or substantially all of the property of the
Company;

(b}  The agreement of all of the Members;

(¢) By operation of law; or

(d) The death, incompetence, expulsion, or bankrupley of a Member, or the
oceurrence of any event that tenminates the continued membership of a Member in the
Company, unless there are then remaining at least the minimum number of Members
required by law and all of the remaining Members, within one hundred twenty (120} days
after the date of the event, elect to continue the business of the Company.

11.2  Winding Up. On the dissolution of the Company (if the Company is not continued), the

Members must take full account of the Company's assets and liabilities, and the assets will be
liquidated as promptly as is consistent with obtaining their fair value, and the proceeds, to the extent
sufficient to pay the Company's obligations with respect to the liquidation, will be applied and
distributed, after any gain or loss realized in connection with the liguidation has been allocated
in accordance with Section 4 of this Agreement, and the Members' Capital Accounts (if
applicable) have been adjusted to reflect the allocation and all other transactions through the date of

the distribution, in the following order:

{a)  To payment and discharge of the expenses of liquidation and of all the
Company's debts and liabilities to persons or organizations other than Members;
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{b)  Tothe payment and discharge of any Company debts and liabilities owed to
Members;

(e} To Members in the amount of their respective adjusted Capital Aceount balances on
the date of distribution (if the Company is taxed as a parnership for federal income tax purposes);
and

{d)  ToMembers pro rata in accordance with their Membership Interests,
SECTION 12
GEMNERAL PROVISIONS

121 Amendmenis. Amendments to this Agreement may be proposed by any Member. A
proposed amendment will be adopted and become effective as an amendment only on the written
approval of all of the Members.

122 Governing Law. This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties under it are
governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Kansas (without regard to
principles of conflicts of Taw).

123 Entire Agreement; Modification. This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding
and agreement between the Members with respect fo the subject matter of this Agreement and
replaces in its entirety the Original Agreement, No agreements, understandings, restrictions,
representations, or warranties exist between or among the members other than those in this
Agreement or referred to or provided for in this Agreement. No modification or amendment of any
provision of this Agreement will be binding on any Member unless in writing and signed by all the
Mhembers,

124 Arbitration. The Members to this Agreement plan to use due diligence and their best
efforts to work together to implement the Agreement and amicably resolve their
differences. However, the Members understand that issues and conflicts may arise where they
reach an impasse. The Members acknowledge their desire to reach a working solution by using
good faith attempts to resolve such issues and conflicts. Any claim or confroversy related to or
arising out of the Apreement, whether in contract or in tort (*Dispute™), will be resolved on a
confidential basis, according to the following process, which any Member may start by
delivering to the other Members a written notice describing the Dispute and the amount
involved (“Demand™). For purposes of this Section 12.4, if multiple Members bring a Dispute
or receive notice of 8 Demand, such Members shall be considered as a single “party™ for
purposes of arbitrating the Dispute, Any such group of bMembers shall make any decisions
required of a party under this Section 12.4 by a vote of a Majority in Interest of the Members
comprising such group. The Members of a group shall share the costs of the arbitration on a pro
rata basis in accordance with their Membership Interests.

After receipt of a Demand, authorized representatives of the parties will meet at a
mutually agreed upon time and place to try to resolve the Dispute by negotiation. [f the Dispute
remains unresolved thirty (30) dayvs after receipt of the Demand, either party may start binding
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arbitration in Owerland Park, Kansas, The parties will use their reasonable best efforls to
conclude the arbitration as expeditiously as possible and, i’ possible, within sixty (60) days
following commencement of any arbitralion proceeding. The arbitration will be before a three-
arbitrator panel. Each party will each select one partial arbitrator, in its sole discretion, to
represent its interest at its sole expense. The partial arbitrator may be an employee, director,
officer or principal of the party. The final arbitrator, who shall be impartial, will be selected by
the two partial arbitrators. In the event the two partial arbitrators shall fail to select an impartial
arbitrator, either party may apply 1o a cowt of law to have a judge select an impartial
arbitrator. The primary objective of the impartial arbitrator is to endeavor to get all three
arbitrators to agree on a final disposition of the Dispute. The powers of the arbitrators are to
interpret and apply the terms of the Agreement as negotiated by the parties. The arbitrators shall
have no power to add to, subtract from or modify the terms of the Agreement as negotiated by
the parties, [F this cannol be atlained, then the three arbitrators by majority ruling may adopt
such procedures as they deem eflicient and appropriate for making the determinations submitted
to them for adjudication. The parties agree that no court shall have the power to interfere with
the proceedings and judgments of the arbitrators other than to enforce the final determination of
the arbitrators. Wo statements by, or communications between, the parties during negotiation or
mediation, or both, will be admissible for any purpose in arbitration, Each party shall each bear
its internal expenses and its attorney’s fees and expenses, and jointly share the cost of the
impartial arbitrator; provided, no interest shall be applied to any arbitration award. 1t is the intent
of the parties to first allow the arbitrators an opportunity to meet and negotiate a unanimous
decision. However, il 4 unanimous agreement cannot be reached through negotiation, then the
decision(s) ol a majority of the arbitrators shall be final and binding on the parties

Motwithstanding the foregoing, either party hereto may resort to a court by applying for
interim relief, without the requirement to post a bond or secwity, if such parly reasonably
determines that such relief is necessary beeause claims for money are not adequate to prevent
irreparable injury to it or to a third party. The wvenue for any such procesding shall be in
Owerland Park, Kansas,

12,5 Further fffect. The parties agree to execute other documents reasonably necessary to
further effect and evidence the terms of this Agreement, as long as the terms and provisions of the
other documents are fully consistent with the terms of this Agreement.

12,6 Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement is held to be void or
unenforeeable, that term or provision will be severed from this Agreement, the balance of the
Agreement will survive, and the balance of this Agreement will be reasonably construed to carry out
the intent of the parties as evidenced by the terms of this Agreement.

127 Caprions. The captions used in this Agreement are for the convenience of the parties
only and will not be interpreted to enlarge, contract, or alter the terms and provisions of this
Agreement.

12.8  Notices. All notices required to be given by this Agreement will be in writing and will be
effective when actually delivered or, il mailed, when deposited as certified mail, postage prepaid,
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directed to the addresses [irst shown above for each Member or to such other address as a
Member may specify by notice given in conformance with these provisions to the other
Members.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties to this Agreement execute this Operating
Agreement as of the date and year first above written,

(;,M//(Qi

bert E. Cinelli 9(3111&]11

MEMBERS:
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